NOTICE: This opinion is subject to formal revision before publication in the
bound volumes of NLRB decisions. Readers are requested to notify the Ex-
ecutive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, Washington, D.C.
20570, of any typographical or other formal errors so that corrections can
be included in the bound volumes.

NP Red Rock LLC d/b/a Red Rock Casino Resort Spa
and Claudia Montano and Local Joint Executive
Board of Las Vegas a/w UNITE HERE Interna-
tional Union

NP Boulder LLC d/b/a Boulder Station Hotel & Ca-
sino and Local Joint Executive Board of Las Ve-
gas a/w UNITE HERE International Union

NP Palace LLC d/b/a Palace Station Hotel & Casino
and Local Joint Executive Board of Las Vegas
a/w Unite Here International Union. Cases 28—
CA-244484, 28-CA-250950, 28-CA-250229, 28—
CA-250282, 28-CA-250873, 28-CA-252591, 28—
CA-253276, 28-CA-254470, 28—CA-254510, 28—
CA-254514, 28-CA-260640, 28-CA-260641, 28—

! The involvement of Respondents NP Boulder LLC d/b/a Boulder
Station Hotel & Casino (Boulder Station) and NP Palace LLC d/b/a Pal-
ace Station Hotel & Casino (Palace Station) in this case is limited to the
allegation that they, along with Respondent NP Red Rock LLC d/b/a Red
Rock Casino Resort Spa (Red Rock), violated Sec. 8(a)(1) by posting
photographs of employees on an antiunion campaign website without the
employees’ consent and without a disclaimer stating that the website was
not intended to reflect the views of the employees appearing on it. Un-
less otherwise specified, “Respondent” below refers to Respondent Red
Rock, the sole Respondent with respect to the other allegations.

2 On January 9, 2024, the Respondents filed a motion requesting that
Chairman McFerran and Member Kaplan recuse themselves from ruling
on the exceptions and cross-exceptions to the judge’s decision in this
case. They contend that Chairman McFerran and Member Kaplan’s No-
vember 2020 vote to authorize the General Counsel to seek an injunction
against the Respondent in Federal district court under Sec. 10(j) of the
Act was an exercise of a prosecutorial function that gives rise to an un-
constitutional potential for bias if they later serve to adjudicate the ex-
ceptions and cross-exceptions. However, the Supreme Court has long
held that “the combination of investigative and adjudicative functions
does not, without more, constitute a due process violation.” Withrow v.
Larkin, 421 U.S. 35, 58 (1975). To the contrary, the Court observed,
“[i]t is . . . very typical for the members of administrative agencies to
receive the results of investigations, to approve the filing of charges or
formal complaints instituting enforcement proceedings, and then to par-
ticipate in the ensuing hearings. This mode of procedure does not violate
the Administrative Procedure Act, and it does not violate due process of
law.” Id. at 56. Federal courts of appeals evaluating arguments like the
Respondents’ have uniformly applied the Supreme Court’s decision in
Withrow v. Larkin to hold that “the [National Labor Relations] Board’s
authority under the Act to seek preliminary injunctive relief against an
employer in the district court does not deprive the employer of a neutral
decisionmaker in subsequent proceedings before the Board.” Flamingo
Hilton-Laughlin v. NLRB, 148 F.3d 1166, 1174 (D.C. Cir. 1998), enfg.
in relevant part 324 NLRB 72 (1997); see also Kessel Food Markets, Inc.
v. NLRB, 868 F.2d 881, 887-888 (6th Cir. 1989), enfg. 287 NLRB 426
(1987), cert. denied 493 U.S. 820 (1989); NLRB v. Sanford Home for
Adults, 669 F.2d 35, 37 (2d Cir. 1981), enfg. 253 NLRB 1132 (1981);
Eisenberg v. Holland Rantos, 583 F.2d 100, 104 fn. 8 (3d Cir. 1978),
enfg. 234 NLRB 726 (1978); Hogan Transports, Inc., 363 NLRB 1980,
1980 fn. 1 (2016) (“The Board’s [Sec.] 10(j) procedures do not deny a
respondent due process.”). The Respondents’ motion is accordingly de-
nied.
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June 17, 2024
DECISION AND ORDER

BY CHAIRMAN MCFERRAN AND MEMBERS PROUTY
AND WILCOX

On April 12, 2022, Administrative Law Judge Jeffrey
D. Wedekind issued the attached decision. The Respond-
ents! filed exceptions and a supporting brief, the General
Counsel and the Charging Party filed answering briefs,
and the Respondents filed reply briefs. The General
Counsel filed cross-exceptions and a supporting brief, the
Respondents filed an answering brief, and the General
Counsel filed a reply brief.

The National Labor Relations Board has delegated it au-
thority in this proceeding to a three-member panel.?

The Board has considered the decision and the record in
light of the exceptions and briefs and has decided to affirm
the judge’s rulings, findings,®> and conclusions* and to

3 The Respondent has excepted to some of the judge’s credibility
findings. The Board’s established policy is not to overrule an adminis-
trative law judge’s credibility resolutions unless the clear preponderance
of all the relevant evidence convinces us that they are incorrect. Stand-
ard Dry Wall Products, 91 NLRB 544 (1950), enfd. 188 F.2d 362 (3d
Cir. 1951). We have carefully examined the record and find no basis for
reversing the findings.

4 In the absence of exceptions, we adopt the judge’s dismissal of the
allegations that the Respondent violated Sec. 8(a)(1) by threatening to
reduce the pay of employee Balmore Orellana, promising retroactive
funding of employees’ 401(k) plans, and distributing antiunion door
hangers and violated Sec. 8(a)(3) and (1) by threatening, changing the
schedule, and reducing the seniority of Charging Party Claudia Montano
and by failing to recall or reinstate employee Yaneth Chavez.

The Respondent has excepted to the judge’s conclusion that it violated
Sec. 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing to offer the Union notice and an oppor-
tunity to bargain prior to cancelling table-swap agreements. However,
the Respondent does not state, either in its exceptions or supporting brief,
any grounds on which the judge’s purportedly erroneous conclusion
should be reversed. Therefore, we find, in accordance with Sec.
102.46(a)(1)(i) and (ii) of the Board’s Rules and Regulations that this
exception should be disregarded. See, e.g., Security Walls, LLC, 371
NLRB No. 74, slip op. at 3 fn. 15 (2022), enfd. 80 F.4th 1277 (11th Cir.
2023); Holsum de Puerto, Inc., 344 NLRB 694, 694 fn. 1 (2005), enfd.
456 F.3d 265 (1st Cir. 2006). In any event, we agree with and affirm the
judge’s conclusion that the Respondent violated the Act as alleged on the
merits.

We agree with the judge that the Respondent violated Sec. 8(a)(1) of
the Act by serving free steaks branded with the words “Vote No” in the
Red Rock employee dining room on December 17, 2019. While the
Board has held that an employer does not violate the Act by “providing
meals to employees or holding cocktail parties or dinners,” Waste Man-
agement of Palm Beach, 329 NLRB 198, 198 (1999), this principle does
not encompass a situation where, as here, an employer has identified the
quality of food served to employees as a top employee concern, promised
employees to make everything better, and then directed that a higher
quality of food be served immediately before an election. The issue here
does not turn on the relative extravagance of the Respondent’s conduct,
but on the fact that the steaks clearly linked the Respondent’s plea for
employees to oppose the Union with a concrete improvement of, and im-
plied promise to continue to improve, an important condition of employ-
ment. Cf, e.g., State Plaza Hotel, 347 NLRB 755, 762-764 (2006) (em-
ployer violated Sec. 8(a)(1) by soliciting and remedying employee griev-
ances about food quality).
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adopt the recommended Order as modified and set forth in
full below.’

As found by the judge and discussed in more detail be-
low, the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by
many separate instances of three categories of coercive
conduct: (1) promises, announcements, or grants of bene-
fits to its employees made during the Local Joint Execu-
tive Board of Las Vegas a/w UNITE HERE International
Union’s (the Union) organizing campaign in order to dis-
courage employees from selecting the Union; (2) threats
to withhold or withdraw benefits if employees selected the
Union; and (3) implied threats that selecting the Union
would be futile because the Respondent would not agree
to improve employees’ working conditions through bar-
gaining with the Union. The Respondent further violated
Section 8(a)(1) by threatening employees with job loss as
a result of strikes, interrogating an employee about her un-
ion sympathies, and posting photographs of employees on
an antiunion website without their consent. In addition, it
violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) by issuing discriminatory
disciplines and a discriminatory work assignment to union
supporters and by failing to recall an employee from layoff
status because of her union activity. As explained below,
we agree with the judge that the Respondent’s egregious
and pervasive unlawful conduct requires a remedial af-
firmative bargaining order under NLRB v. Gissel Packing
Co., 395 U.S. 575 (1969). We further conclude that a re-
medial bargaining order is separately warranted under the
standard set forth in the Board’s recent decision in Cemex
Construction Materials Pacific, LLC, 372 NLRB No. 130

In affirming the judge’s conclusion that the Respondents violated Sec.
8(a)(1) by posting employee photographs on an antiunion campaign
website without their consent, we reject the Respondent’s suggestion that
the safeguards governing employer use of employee images in campaign
materials set forth in Allegheny Ludlum Corp., 333 NLRB 734, 742-745
(2001), enfd. on other grounds 301 F.3d 167 (3d Cir. 2002), might not
apply to campaign websites.

5 We have amended the judge’s conclusions of law and recommended
remedy consistent with our findings herein. We shall modify the judge’s
recommended Order to conform to our findings and to the Board’s stand-
ard remedial language, and we shall substitute a new notice to conform
to the Order as modified.

¢ The judge correctly considered both the Respondent’s implied
promises of benefits prior to the Union’s petition for a Board election
and its postelection implementation of its earlier unlawful promises. See,
e.g., Hampton Inn NY—JFK Airport, 348 NLRB 16, 17 (2006) (“[T]he
rule set out in Exchange Parts is also applicable to promises or conferral
of benefits during an organizational campaign but before a representation
petition has been filed.”); Westminster Community Hospital, Inc., 221
NLRB 185, 185-186 (1975) (finding postelection wage increase unlaw-
ful as “both a reward to the employees for having rejected the Union and
a fulfillment of earlier unlawful promises”), enfd. mem. 566 F.2d 1186
(9th Cir. 1977).

In affirming the judge’s conclusion that Supervisor Malgozata
Wrzask’s remarks to employee Blanca Herrera on December 14, 2019,
violated Sec. 8(a)(1) as an instance of the Respondent’s unlawful an-
nouncements of new benefits in order to persuade employees not to sup-
port the Union, we find it unnecessary to pass on whether those remarks
also constituted an unlawful interrogation.

7 NLRBv. Exchange Parts Co., 375 U.S. 405,409 (1964) (Sec. 8(a)(1)
prohibits “conduct immediately favorable to employees which is

(2023). Finally, we agree with the General Counsel that
the Respondent’s whole course of unlawful conduct man-
ifests an attitude of opposition to the purposes of the Act
that requires certain additional remedies, as described be-
low, in order to safeguard the fundamental statutory rights
of the Respondent’s employees.

Promises, Announcements, and Implementation
of Benefits

We agree with the judge, for the reasons set forth in his
decision and as explained below, that Respondent Red
Rock violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by, on many sep-
arate occasions, promising, announcing, and/or imple-
menting improved benefits or other terms and conditions
of employment for Red Rock employees in order to dis-
suade them from supporting the Union.®

It is well established that an employer violates Section
8(a)(1) by promising or granting benefits during a union
campaign in order to dissuade its employees from support-
ing the union.” The lawfulness of a grant of benefits dur-
ing an organizing campaign depends upon its motive, and
“the Board infers improper motive and interference with
employees’ Sec[tion] 7 rights when an employer grants
benefits during an organizing campaign without showing
a legitimate business reason.”® To rebut this inference, the
employer has the burden to show that it would have taken
the same action, at the same time, even if there had been
no union activity.’

The Respondent here has clearly failed to meet its bur-
den. First, we agree with the judge’s rejection of the Re-
spondent’s contention that it was unaware of the Union’s

undertaken with the express purpose of impinging upon their freedom of
choice for or against unionization and is reasonably calculated to have
that effect.”); see also, e.g., Shamrock Foods Co., 366 NLRB No. 117,
slip op. at 1 & fn. 6, 13 (2018), enfd. 779 Fed.Appx. 752, 756 (D.C. Cir.
2019).

8 Vista Del Sol Health Services, Inc., 363 NLRB 1193, 1193 fn. 2
(2016).

° See, e.g., CVS Pharmacy, 372 NLRB No. 91, slip op. at 1 fn. 2, 6
(2023) (“[1]t is the employer’s burden to show that the announcement
would have been made at the same time even if there had been no union
activity.”); SBM Management Services, 362 NLRB 1207, 1207 (2015)
(““As a general rule, an employer’s legal duty in deciding whether to
grant benefits while a representation proceeding is pending is to decide
that question precisely as it would if the union were not on the scene.’”’)
(quoting United Airlines Services Corp., 290 NLRB 954, 954 (1988));
accord Care One at Madison Avenue, LLC v. NLRB, 832 F.3d 351, 357
(D.C. Cir. 2016) (“What the Act requires is that the employer make its
benefits decisions ‘precisely as it would if the union were not on the
scene.””) (quoting Federated Logistics & Operations v. NLRB, 400 F.3d
920, 927 (D.C. Cir. 2005)), enfg. 361 NLRB 1462 (2014); Perdue Farms
Inc., Cookin’ Good Division v. NLRB, 144 F.3d 830, 836 (D.C. Cir.
1998) (“Granting benefits does not violate the Act if it occurs ‘in the
normal course of business of an employer, without any motive of induc-
ing employees to vote against the union.’ . . .. Both the decision to confer
benefits and the timing of the announcement of such benefits are subject
to ‘in the normal course of business’ analysis[.]”) (quoting Pedro’s Inc.
v. NLRB, 652 F2d. 1005, 1008 (D.C. Cir. 1981)), enfg. in relevant part
323 NLRB 345 (1997); NLRB v. Anchorage Times Publishing Co., 637
F.2d 1359, 1367 (9th Cir. 1981) (“[T]he law is well established that there
is a presumption of illegal motive adhering to wage increases granted
prior to an election.”), enfg. 237 NLRB 544 (1978).
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campaign when it lawfully initiated the benefit changes,
but rather made the changes because of legitimate busi-
ness concerns about employee turnover and labor-market
competition. The record establishes that the Union was
actively organizing across all Station Casinos properties
by July 2018, when the Respondent asserts that it took its
first steps towards reviewing and revising its human re-
sources policies by interviewing Phil Fortino (a senior hu-
man-resources official then employed by a different ca-
sino group). And even in the 2018 interview, Station Ca-
sinos’ union issues were central to the discussion of po-
tentially hiring Fortino to evaluate and improve the Re-
spondent’s human resources policies. Moreover, by the
time Station Casinos actually hired Fortino around July
2019,'° the Respondent was specifically aware of the Un-
ion’s campaign at Red Rock and actively opposing that
campaign, including by posting antiunion messaging
throughout the Red Rock facility that emphasized years of
fruitless bargaining at Boulder and Palace Stations. Fi-
nally, the judge discredited testimony presented by the Re-
spondent to show that its benefits changes were motivated
by legitimate concerns about employee turnover and la-
bor-market competition. We specifically affirm the
judge’s credibility resolutions in this respect and accord-
ingly conclude that the Respondent did not establish that
it decided to improve employee benefits for legitimate
business reasons unrelated to the Union’s campaign.!!
Next, even if the Respondent had established that it ini-
tiated a plan to review and improve employee benefits for
legitimate reasons before it was aware of the Union’s cam-
paign, it would nevertheless have the burden to show that
its subsequent implementation “represented a logical
working out” of that plan that “would have been the same
whether or not there was a [union] campaign afoot.”'? But
the unprecedented benefits the Respondent announced at
the December 10 and 11 meetings cannot plausibly be

10 Dates below are in 2019 unless otherwise specified.

' Our careful review of the entire record reveals that many of the Re-
spondent’s witnesses, including Red Rock General Manager Scott Nel-
son, Station Casinos Chief Operating Officer Robert Finch, Executive
Vice President and Chief Legal Officer Jeffrey Welch, Chief Financial
Officer Stephen Cootey, and Senior Vice President for Human Resources
Phil Fortino testified with such an unusual degree of evasiveness and
wholly implausible forgetfulness that the judge was fully warranted in
discounting their testimony as generally unreliable except where inde-
pendently corroborated or against the Respondent’s interest.

Because the record does not otherwise support overturning the judge’s
determinations to discredit testimony about the Respondent’s motives for
reviewing its benefits packages, we find it unnecessary to rely on the
judge’s consideration of public news reporting relating to the Las Vegas
labor market at the relevant time.

12 Churchill’s Supermarkets, 285 NLRB 138, 140 (1987), enfd. 857
F.2d 1474 (6th Cir. 1988) (per curiam); see also Perdue Farms, above,
144 F.3d at 836 (applying D.C. Circuit’s “normal course of business”
standard).

13 For example, Fortino wrote to an outside benefits advisor that he
wanted a 401(k) benefit designed to “’kill” discussion of the Union’s pen-
sion plan.

14 For example, the proposals document states that the 401(k) proposal
“would help incentivize Team Members . . . to not vote for a union”

characterized as a logical unfolding of any general prior
plan to improve benefits. Moreover, affirmative record
evidence independently establishes that the Respondent
deliberately and intentionally conducted the whole pro-
cess leading to its specific benefits decisions in order to
combat the Union’s campaign. Thus, the record supports
the judge’s credibility-based determinations that Fortino
was hired to counteract the Union and that his extremely
expedited review of Station Casinos’ human resources
policies was prompted at least in part by the Respondent’s
expectation of an imminent union petition for a represen-
tation election at Red Rock. Fortino and his staff ex-
pressly formulated policy proposals by comparison to the
Union’s contracts at other properties and the Union’s spe-
cific bargaining proposals at Station Casinos’ other union-
ized properties.> The proposals presented to Station Ca-
sinos’ senior leadership for approval on November 19
themselves document their purpose of counteracting the
Union’s campaign."* And Fortino’s communications
about the benefits further confirm their antiunion purpose:
after the benefits proposals were approved, Fortino
emailed a copy to an acquaintance not employed by Sta-
tion Casinos and responded to a complimentary reply by
writing: “You believe that???? The free health care and
company paid 401(k) is going to devastate the union.”
Finally, even if the Respondent had established that its
specific benefits decisions were not themselves unlaw-
fully motivated, it would still have the burden to establish
that it would have announced the benefits at Red Rock on
December 10 and 11 even if there had been no union elec-
tion scheduled there the following week.'> But the judge
expressly discredited testimony about purported union-
neutral reasons for the time and place of the announce-
ments, and affirmative record evidence establishes that the
decision to announce the benefits at Red Rock on Decem-
ber 10 and 11 related to the impending election.!® Because

(emphasis in original), and that the health-insurance proposal would
“[take] away union power and major emotional draw to Team Members.”
The plan document also includes an overall comparison of the costs of
Station Casinos’ current benefits with estimated costs under a typical
Culinary Union contract, to create an estimated “Cost Exposure With
Union Contract.” Chief Financial Officer Cootey testified that this com-
parison was a benchmark for evaluating whether Fortino’s proposals
were financially efficient for the company and that one of the goals of
implementing these proposals was to avoid financial exposure associated
with employees’ selection of the Union.

15 See, e.g., CVS Pharmacy, above, 372 NLRB No. 91, slip op. at 6.

16 For example, Fortino texted Finch on November 22 and 23 that Red
Rock had received a petition and that “[w]e need to announce ASAP the
new programs.” And on December 10, Fortino emailed a copy of the
PowerPoint used at the December 10 and 11 meetings to an acquaintance
not employed by Station Casinos with the message: “Starting employee
meetings today. I know of one group who won’t be happy when they
hear about this. LOL.” On December 11, the acquaintance replied:
“Well done, Dude! Yes, Culinary will not like this. . . .” Fortino re-
sponded: “We got petitioned at [Red Rock] just after we approved this
plan. We’ve had an amazing amount of employees throw away their
union buttons. Election is next Thursday/Friday so we’ll see what hap-
pens.” Similarly, on December 10, Welch texted a group of Station
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the record establishes that the timing of the announce-
ments was motivated to undermine the Union’s support in
the Red Rock election, the announcements would be un-
lawful and objectionable as alleged under controlling
Board and court precedent even if the Respondent had oth-
erwise established that the benefits changes were moti-
vated by legitimate business concerns unrelated to the Un-
ion’s campaign. '’
Threats to Withhold or
Withdraw Benefits

We agree with the judge, for the reasons set forth in his
decision and as explained below, that the Respondent vi-
olated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by, on many separate oc-
casions, stating or implying to employees that they would
not receive the newly announced benefits package if they
selected the Union. While the Board has held that an em-
ployer may lawfully tell employees that their existing ben-
efits are negotiable and that certain benefits might be re-
duced or eliminated through collective bargaining,'® the
Board has also observed that such communications are
“dangerous” in that they “carry with them ‘the seed of a
threat that the employer will become punitively intransi-
gent in the event the union wins the election.””! Accord-
ingly, such statements are lawful only where “the em-
ployer’s other communications make it clear that any re-
duction in wages or benefits will occur only as a result of
the normal give and take of negotiations.”*® An employer
violates Section 8(a)(1), however, if, “in context, [its state-
ments] reasonably could be understood by employees as a
threat of loss of existing benefits and leave employees

Casinos executive officers: “Very very positive reaction to meetings so
far this morning at Red Rock. Buttons coming off.”

17 See, e.g., Waste Management of Palm Beach, above, 329 NLRB at
198-199 & fn. 3 (employer’s showing that plan to increase its matching
contribution to employees’ 401(k) plans was conceived before the elec-
tion campaign and was to be implemented corporatewide did not satisfy
its burden to show it would have announced the benefit only to employ-
ees at facility that was organizing, shortly before election, even if there
had been no union activity); Perdue Farms, above, 144 F.3d at 836 (“The
timing of the announcement of a wage increase may violate [Sec.]
8(a)(1), even though the employer’s initial decision to raise wages was
perfectly legitimate.”) (internal quotation, modification, and citation
omitted).

8 E.g., National Micronetics, 277 NLRB 993, 994 fn. 11 (1985).

19 BP Amoco Chemical-Chocolate Bayou, 351 NLRB 614, 617 (2007)
(quoting Federated Logistics & Operations, 340 NLRB 255, 255 (2003),
enfd. 400 F.3d 920 (D.C. Cir. 2005)).

20 Boar’s Head Provisions Co., 370 NLRB No. 124, slip op. at 1 fn.
2,17 (2021) (citing Taylor-Dunn Mfg. Co., 252 NLRB 799, 800 (1980),
enfd. mem. 679 F.2d 900 (9th Cir. 1982)).

21 Taylor-Dunn, above, 252 NLRB at 800; see also Boar’s Head Pro-
visions, above, 370 NLRB No. 124, slip op. at 17; BP Amoco, above, 351
NLRB at 617; TRW-United Greenfield Division, 245 NLRB 1135, 1141—
1142 (1979) (“[W]here a bargaining-from-scratch statement can reason-
ably be read in context as a threat by the employer to unilaterally discon-
tinue existing benefits prior to negotiations, or to adopt a regressive bar-
gaining posture designed to force a reduction of existing benefits for the
purpose of penalizing the employees for choosing collective representa-
tion, the Board will find a violation.”) (quoting Coach & Equipment
Sales Corp., 228 NLRB 440, 440-441 (1977)), enfd. 637 F.2d 410, 420—
421 (5th Cir. 1981); Stumpf Motor Co., 208 NLRB 431, 431-432 (1974)

with the impression that what they may ultimately receive
depends upon what the union can induce the employer to
restore.”?' The Respondent’s statements at issue in this
case fail to meet this standard. Rather than making clear
that any loss of existing benefits would occur only as the
result of negotiations, the Respondent repeatedly made
statements that reasonably communicated that if employ-
ees selected the Union they would begin with nothing and
end with only what the Union could achieve in bargain-
ing.?? Particularly in the context of the Respondent’s per-
vasive references to bargaining failure at Boulder and Pal-
ace Stations, discussed further below, these messages un-
lawfully threatened to withhold or withdraw the newly an-
nounced benefits package if employees selected the Un-
ion.

Threats of Futility

We agree with the judge, for the reasons set forth in his
decision and as explained below, that the Respondent vi-
olated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by, on many separate oc-
casions, implicitly threatening that employees’ selection
of the Union would be futile because the Respondent
would adopt a bargaining strategy that would prevent any
agreement with the Union. The Board has held, with court
approval, that an employer’s discussion during a union
campaign of extended unproductive bargaining at its own
other unionized facilities violates Section 8(a)(1) where,
in context, it conveys to employees the impression that
bargaining would be similarly fruitless at their facility if

(holding unlawful manager’s unqualified statement that he “would hate
to lose the profit-sharing plan” because it “implied that unionization
would ipso facto result in the loss of an important benefit,” but holding
lawful other statements about probable loss of profit sharing “as a result
of negotiations.”) (emphasis added).

22 To give just a few examples, Internal Maintenance Director Hernan
Andrade responded to an employee question about whether Red Rock
would “take back everything that they just gave us” if employees selected
the Union by suggesting that, in that case, the new benefits would be
subject to negotiation, and employees would be in the same position as
employees at Boulder Station who, as the Respondent had been empha-
sizing for months, had achieved no improvements to terms and condi-
tions of employment through bargaining. Fortino urged employees not
to let the Union “put bargaining back in instead of what you already
have,” and explained that if employees select the Union, “[e]verything
goes back to bargaining. Everything. Which means you could end up
with more. You could end up with less. Maybe you end up with the
same. People don’t understand that. Think, well, if we have it, we're
gonna start from there. And it doesn’t work that way.” (emphasis
added). And Red Rock Hotel Manager Joshua Leiserowitz, when asked
whether employees would still be eligible for the new benefits if they
voted for the Union, replied, “no . . . if you vote yes to the Union then
you won’t be eligible for these new benefits.” When challenged, Leiser-
owitz replied that “he was sure that he was right because he had verified
that information earlier.” The Respondent implicitly excepts to the
judge’s determination to credit testimony establishing Leiserowitz’s re-
marks, but the record does not support overturning the judge’s credibility
resolution. The Respondent also contests the judge’s ruling permitting
the General Counsel to amend the complaint to allege that these remarks
were unlawful. We affirm the judge’s ruling for the reasons, and with
the safeguards, the judge set forth on the hearing record.
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they selected the Union.?* Here, the Respondent’s perva-
sive emphasis on years of fruitless bargaining at Boulder
and Palace Stations formed a centerpiece of its antiunion
campaign at Red Rock from at least July 2019 all the way
through the election.”* Because Fortino’s corporate hu-
man resources department controlled both bargaining at
Boulder and Palace Stations and any potential bargaining
at Red Rock, employees could not miss the message that
Respondent could and would ensure that employees’ se-
lection of the Union at Red Rock would bring them noth-
ing more than it had brought employees at Boulder and
Palace Stations.> Because the Respondent’s pervasive
discussion of fruitless bargaining at Boulder and Palace
Stations clearly implied that it would adopt a bargaining
strategy designed to prevent agreement if employees se-
lected the Union, we agree with the judge that these state-
ments were coercive threats in violation of Section 8(a)(1)
of the Act.

Implicit Threats of Job Loss as a Result of a Strike

We agree with the judge, for the reasons set forth in his
decision and as explained below, that the Respondent vi-
olated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by implicitly threatening

23 Libertyville Toyota, 360 NLRB 1298, 1298 (2014) (respondent’s
statements unlawfully threatened futility based in part on reference to
employees at different unionized facility who had “been living that night-
mare for almost 3 years now”), enfd. sub nom. Auto Nation, Inc. v.
NLRB, 801 F.3d 767, 772 (7th Cir. 2015); Overnite Transportation Co.,
329 NLRB 990, 992 (1999) (respondent unlawfully gave employees the
impression that bargaining would be futile where it “gave a special mean-
ing” to statement pay raises “will have to wait for negotiations” by re-
peatedly citing example of years of unproductive bargaining at its own
separate unionized facility), enfd. in relevant part 280 F.3d 417, 430 (4th
Cir. 2002).

24 To give just a few examples, transcripts of the December 16 and 17
captive audience meetings include the following statements:

Fortino: “Let’s start with the obvious. How long have Boulder and
Palace been in negotiations? Another word would be bargaining. Over
three years. How is that going? It’s going nowhere. Here’s what the
law says. . . . The government does not require us to make a deal with
the union ever. I think that’s made obvious when you look at Boulder
and Palace. 1,110 days as of today.”

Fortino: “The law states clearly the parties are not compelled to ever
reach an agreement. Boulder, Palace, 1,100 days, no contract no nothing.
There is no law that says we ever have to agree.”

Nelson: “Again, Boulder and Palace, as Phil had mentioned, there
have been multiple meetings, multiple meetings. But there’s no contract.
There’s 180 plus articles that have been thrown out on the table between
the two parties and it’s my understanding that there’s been four things
that have been agreed upon. The people that have been promising all of
these things, whether it’s Boulder team members, Palace team members,
or even you, one of the first—one of the first things that they wanted to
get settled was collection of dues. Wow. Thank you. No agreements.
No pension that was promised 3 1/2 years ago. But, wait. You already
have a paid retirement plan here that was put together. No free Culinary
healthcare for those Palace and Boulder team members. But, wait. You
already have that here now. . . . These brand new company-wide benefit
changes apply to you now. . . . And unfortunately we can’t implement
these changes at your sister properties, Boulder, Palace, and Fiesta Ran-
cho, without continuing to discuss them with the union. And again 1,100
days and counting since Boulder, Palace, and Rancho were promised free
union health insurance and union pension plan.”

Nelson: “Take a look at this. These are some of the promises here
that were given to the Palace and Boulder teams. They were promised

that employees’ selection of the Union would result in an
increased chance of job loss as a result of a strike. The
Board has held that Section 8(c) of the Act protects an em-
ployer’s statement truthfully informing employees that
they are subject to permanent replacement in the event of
an economic strike, “[u]nless the statement may be fairly
understood as a threat of reprisal against employees or is
explicitly coupled with such threats.”* Here, the Re-
spondent repeatedly warned employees that if they se-
lected the Union and the Union was unsatisfied with bar-
gaining progress, it could call an economic strike and the
Respondent could permanently replace striking employ-
ees. The Respondent framed these warning within perva-
sive references to the years of fruitless bargaining at Boul-
der and Palace Stations and repeated statements that the
Respondent was never required to reach any agreement
with the Union, which, as discussed above, we have found
unlawfully threatened that selecting the Union would be
futile. In this context, the Respondent’s warnings clearly
imply that employees’ selection of the Union would sub-
stantially increase their risk of being permanently re-
placed. The Board has long held that similar

... Culinary healthcare, Culinary pension, that they couldn’t be disci-
plined. Have they gotten any of these things? Right after the election,
they were told they were going to get it right after the election. They got
nothing. They got none of it. After 1 year, nada. After 2 years, nada.
After 3 years, nada. . . . And we’re right here doing what we’re doing and
there’s none of that bargaining stuff and 3 years with nada. I’m hoping
I can count on every one of you, it’s about us. Let’s keep it us, please.”

The General Counsel requests that we overrule Babcock & Wilcox, 77
NLRB 577 (1948), which upholds the legality of employer-mandated
campaign meetings. We decline the General Counsel’s request that we
address that issue in this case.

25 The Respondent stipulated in its answer to the General Counsel’s
complaint that several Station Casinos officers, including Fortino, were
statutory supervisors or agents of Respondent Red Rock and does not
contend that bargaining at Boulder and Palace Stations was separately
controlled from potential bargaining at Red Rock. We reject the Re-
spondent’s contention that the judge’s conclusions on this record run
contrary to the Board’s decisions in Winkle Bus Co., 347 NLRB 1203
(2006), and Mercy-Memorial Hospital Corp., 231 NLRB 1108 (1977).
In Winkle Bus Co., the Board held that a respondent’s “offhand com-
ment” about a newspaper article discussing bargaining outcomes at “an
unrelated employer in the area,” did not unlawfully threaten that union
representation would be futile. 347 NLRB at 1204-1206. In Mercy-
Memorial Hospital, the Board affirmed, without comment, an adminis-
trative law judge’s dismissal of an allegation that a respondent unlaw-
fully threatened futility by distributing a single leaflet reminding em-
ployees of the union’s failure to secure a contract at another respondent
facility at which the respondent claimed that it had no bargaining obliga-
tion and no bargaining had taken place for several years. 231 NLRB at
1122. The employer conduct in those cases is not comparable to the pre-
sent Respondent’s pervasive campaign references to ongoing fruitless
bargaining at Boulder and Palace Stations. Moreover, the Board’s deci-
sion in Mercy-Memorial Hospital gives no indication that the judge’s
analysis and dismissal of the relevant allegation was presented to the
Board by any party’s exceptions, while the Board’s subsequently issued
decisions in Libertyville Toyota, above, and Overnite Transportation
Co., above, clearly support the judge’s findings of violations on this rec-
ord.

26 Eagle Comtronics, Inc., 263 NLRB 515, 515-516 (1982).
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communications, especially in the context of further unfair
labor practice conduct, violate the Act even absent an ex-
plicit threat that selecting a union would inevitably lead to
a strike.?’

October 13 Final Written Warning to Claudia Montano

We agree with the judge, for the reasons set forth in his
decision and as explained below, that the Respondent vi-
olated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the Act by issuing a dis-
ciplinary final written warning to employee Claudia Mon-
tano on October 13. First, we agree with the judge that the
General Counsel made her initial showing under Wright
Line®® that the warning was motivated, at least in part, by
Montano’s ongoing union activity. Next, the Respond-
ent’s decision to issue the final written warning was made
pursuant to its progressive discipline policy based in part
on a separate written warning issued to Montano less than
2 weeks earlier. But, as the judge found, the earlier warn-
ing was itself unlawful. The judge correctly concluded
that the Respondent’s reliance on the prior unlawful warn-
ing suffices to establish that the final written warning was
also unlawful

We further find that, even if the Respondent had not re-
lied upon the earlier unlawful discipline, it failed to meet
its Wright Line defense burden to establish that it would
have issued a final written warning to Montano absent her
union activity. The Respondent contends that it disci-
plined Montano for failing to complete assigned work pre-
paring salads, failing to label roasted cashews in violation
of the health code, and falsely indicating that she had com-
pleted the work by highlighting the item on a prep list. But
Montano claimed—both in writing on the disciplinary no-
tice and in testimony—that she had been prevented from
completing the assignment by other assigned work, had
appropriately labeled her product, and had informed her
immediate supervisor, Chef Cecilia Magat, that the as-
signment was not complete. Montano further testified that

27 Rankin & Rankin, Inc., 330 NLRB 1026, 1026, 1038 (2000) (hold-
ing unlawful employer’s statement “if the union demanded higher wages
and the company disagreed, the union could call a strike and the employ-
ees could be replaced by new employees, hired for less money” in con-
text of further unlawful conduct); Mediplex of Danbury, 314 NLRB 470,
470-471 (1994) (holding unlawful employer’s discussion of termination
and permanent replacement of strikers at an unrelated facility); Mack’s
Supermarkets, 288 NLRB 1082, 1082 fn. 3, 1091-1092 (1988) (holding
unlawful employer’s statement that employees “could be replaced in the
event of a strike,” in context of further unlawful conduct).

While the Respondent framed its discussion as involving “economic”
strikes, a strike in response to alleged bad-faith bargaining would, of
course, be an unfair-labor-practice strike, in which case the Respondent
would not have the right to permanently replace strikers. And an em-
ployer’s misrepresentation of the unqualified reinstatement rights of un-
fair-labor-practice strikers itself constitutes an unprotected threat of job
loss for engaging in protected strike activity that violates Sec. 8(a)(1).
See, e.g., Cemex Construction Materials, above, 372 NLRB No. 130, slip
op. at 5 & fns. 30, 31. The Board has held that remarks about economic-
striker replacement are not protected speech under Eagle Comtronics
when accompanied by an employer’s suggestion that it would bargain so
as to cause a strike, because “[a]ny strike caused by an employer’s bad-
faith bargaining in retaliation for a union election victory is not an

labels sometimes fell off hot pans, that she did not high-
light the prep list indicating that the work was complete,
and that Magat told her that she had correctly prioritized
the other assignment and not to worry about not complet-
ing the salad prep. The judge found that Chef Danielle
Tydingco, who directed Magat to discipline Montano,
provided significantly inconsistent testimony about the
matter and was not generally a convincing witness.*° Be-
cause Magat was not available to testify, and Tydingco
was undisputedly not present at the time of Montano’s al-
leged infractions, Montano’s denial that she committed
the infractions—supported by her contemporaneous writ-
ten comment on the disciplinary document—is not contro-
verted by any direct credible evidence in this record. We
accordingly conclude that the Respondent has failed to es-
tablish, as a factual matter, that Montano committed the
alleged infractions for which she was disciplined.
Moreover, even if the Respondent had established that
Montano committed the alleged infractions, we find that
the Respondent’s proffered disciplinary comparators fall
short of meeting its burden to persuade that it would have
issued progressive discipline to Montano for the conduct
alleged. Montano allegedly failed to label roasted nuts
that were being placed on a sheet pan for cooling in the
kitchen refrigerator. This alleged failure, while a violation
of the health code, did not pose an immediate health risk
to any customer. Unlike Montano’s purported conduct
here, most of the Respondent’s proffered disciplinary
comparators involved health code infractions that could
directly result in danger to customers because they in-
volved improper heating, cooking, cooling, storage, or
sanitation technique that risked the growth or transfer of
foodborne illness. The Respondent did present one exam-
ple of a “counseling/coaching” for failure to properly label
prep work, without more, but the record establishes that
“counseling/coaching” does not count as “progressive

economic strike.” Unifirst Corp., 335 NLRB 706, 707-708 (2001); see
also H.A. Kuhle Co., 205 NLRB 88, 103 (1973) (“The natural inference
from [employer’s implication that its bargaining strategy would leave
union no choice but to strike, and risk striker replacement] was that the
[employees] stood an excellent chance of losing their jobs even if they
struck to protest an unlawful refusal to bargain, a further unlawful mis-
representation of the law.”).

28251 NLRB 1083 (1980), enfd. 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert.
denied 455 U.S. 989 (1982).

2 See, e.g., Kitsap Tenant Support Services, 366 NLRB No. 98, slip
op. at 20 (2018) (““It is well settled that, where a respondent disciplines
an employee based on prior discipline that was unlawful, any further and
progressive discipline based in whole or in part thereon must itself be
unlawful.””) (quoting Hays Corp., 334 NLRB 48, 50 (2001)), enfd. 2019
WL 12276113 (D.C. Cir. 2019); NLRB v. Relco Locomotives, Inc., 734
F.3d 764, 787 (8th Cir. 2013) (“An adverse employment decision is un-
lawful if it relies upon and results from a previous unlawful action.”).

30 As with other Respondent witnesses noted above, Tydingco testi-
fied with such evasiveness and implausible forgetfulness that we agree
with the judge that she was not generally a reliable witness, and we spe-
cifically affirm the judge’s determination to discredit her testimony
about her own lack of knowledge of Montano’s union activity and about
the Respondent’s purported reasons for issuing disciplines to Montano.
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discipline” within the Respondent’s system. Moreover,
that coaching was issued after the same employee had re-
ceived two prior coachings, a verbal warning, and a writ-
ten warning. Finally, that coaching was issued on October
12, only 1 day before Montano’s final warning, which
clearly undermines its weight as evidence that Montano’s
discipline was consistent with the Respondent’s estab-
lished prior practice. We accordingly conclude that the
Respondent failed to establish that it would have disci-
plined Montano as it did absent her union activity even if
it had established that she committed the infractions al-
leged and even if the prior warning had been lawful.

The Gissel Bargaining Order

We agree with the judge, for the reasons set forth in his
decision and as explained below, that the Respondent’s
pervasive and egregious misconduct warrants a remedial
affirmative bargaining order under NLRB v. Gissel Pack-
ing Co., 395 U.S. 575 (1969).3! The Supreme Court held
in Gissel that, where a union has at some point achieved
majority support and a respondent has engaged in unfair
labor practices which “have the tendency to undermine
majority strength and impede the election processes,” the
Board “should issue” an order for the respondent to bar-
gain with the union without an election if “the Board finds
that the possibility of erasing the effects of past practices
and of ensuring a fair election (or a fair rerun) by the use
of traditional remedies, though present, is slight and that
the employee sentiment once expressed through cards
would, on balance, be better protected by a bargaining or-
der.”®? The Court emphasized that a bargaining order in
this circumstance serves the two equally important goals
of “effectuating ascertainable employee free choice” and

3! In finding a bargaining order appropriate under Gissel, the judge
did not expressly address the General Counsel’s complaint allegation
that the Respondent violated Sec. 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by refusing
to recognize and bargain with the Union while engaging in unlawful con-
duct such that there was only a slight possibility that the application of
the Board’s traditional remedies could allow a free and fair rerun elec-
tion. We conclude that the Respondent’s refusal to bargain under these
circumstances violated Sec. 8(a)(5) and (1) as alleged, and we shall
amend the judge’s conclusions of law accordingly.

32 Gissel, above, 395 U.S. at 614-615.

3 1d. at 614; see also Seattle-First National Bank v. NLRB, 892 F.2d
792, 796 (9th Cir. 1989) (“[A] long line of cases . . . stands for the prop-
osition that the purpose of an order to bargain is not simply to effectuate
majority rule in a particular case but also to deter wrongful refusals by
employers to recognize majorities promptly.”). This is the Gissel “Cat-
egory II” standard, under which the parties and the judge have analyzed
this case.

34 Gissel, above, 395 U.S. at 614.

3 See, e.g., Aldworth Co., 338 NLRB 137, 150 (2002) (finding “per-
nicious effects of the Respondent’s preelection unfair labor practices
were exacerbated and renewed by independent unlawful postelection
conduct”), enfd. sub nom. Dunkin’ Donuts Mid-Atlantic Distribution
Center v. NLRB, 363 F.3d 437 (D.C. Cir. 2004); General Fabrications
Corp., 328 NLRB 1114, 1115 (1999) (“An employer’s continuing hos-
tility toward employee rights in its postelection conduct ‘evidences a
strong likelihood of a recurrence of unlawful conduct in the event of an-
other organizing effort.””) (quoting Garney Morris, Inc.,313 NLRB 101,
103 (1993)), enfd. 222 F.3d 218 (6th Cir. 2000).

“deterring employer misbehavior.”** The Court further
observed that the Board “can properly take into consider-
ation the extensiveness of an employer’s unfair practices
in terms of their past effect on election conditions and the
likelihood of their recurrence in the future.”** The Board
accordingly considers a respondent’s entire course of con-
duct, both before and after the election, in determining
whether a bargaining order is warranted.*> The Board
considers “the seriousness of the violations and their per-
vasive nature, as well as such factors as the number of em-
ployees directly affected, the identity and position of the
individuals committing the unfair labor practices, and the
size of the unit and extent of dissemination of knowledge
of the Respondent’s coercive conduct among unit employ-
ees.”®

Here, as the judge found, at least 810 of the Respond-
ent’s 1343 unit employees—approximately 60 percent—
had signed authorization cards designating the Union as
their exclusive representative for the purpose of collective
bargaining by October 16, 2019.3” The Respondent en-
gaged in serious pervasive unlawful misconduct begin-
ning in September 2019, well before the Union filed its
petition, and the unlawful misconduct continued at least
through June 2020, well after the December 2019 elec-
tion.?® As discussed in detail above, the whole record re-
flects that the Respondent’s extensive coercive and unlaw-
ful misconduct stemmed from a carefully crafted corpo-
rate strategy intentionally designed at every step to inter-
fere with employees’ free choice whether or not to select
the Union as their collective-bargaining representative.
The centerpiece of the Respondent’s unlawful campaign
was its tripart message promising and granting employees

36 See, e.g., Cemex Construction Materials, above, 372 NLRB No.
130, slip op. at 12; Garvey Marine, Inc., 328 NLRB 991, 993 (1999),
enfd. 245 F.3d 819 (D.C. Cir. 2001).

37 The parties extensively litigated the legitimacy of the authorization
cards before ultimately stipulating that the Union obtained a majority by
October 2019, and the Respondent does not contest before the Board the
validity of the Union’s October majority.

3% The General Counsel excepts to the judge’s finding that the Re-
spondent committed “approximately 20 unfair labor practices” during
the critical period between the Union’s petition and the election, arguing
that this finding significantly undercounts the number and pervasiveness
of the Respondent’s unfair labor practices, including those before the
critical period and after the election. The General Counsel’s complaint
alleged approximately 160 distinct violations, in many cases by repeated
separate communications of similar unlawful messages by different man-
agers or to different employees. The judge in some instances found the
violations “as alleged” without addressing distinct allegations separately,
and in others found it unnecessary to pass on cumulative allegations. We
agree with the General Counsel that the record and the judge’s decision
support finding far more than 20 distinct unfair labor practice violations.
We find it unnecessary to determine precisely how many times the Re-
spondent violated the Act by distinct repetitive communications because
finding additional instances of violations found by the judge would be
cumulative and would not affect the remedy. It is clear, however, that
the Respondent pervasively conveyed its various unlawful messages to
all or nearly all of its bargaining unit employees through many channels
on many occasions prior to the election.
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tremendous new benefits without the Union, threatening
to withhold or withdraw these benefits if employees se-
lected the Union, and implicitly threatening that selecting
the Union could only lead to years of fruitless bargaining
without any improvement to working conditions. This
highly coercive combination of promises and threats was
accompanied by a barrage of further unlawful conduct, in-
cluding additional threats that selecting the Union would
lead to withdrawal of “favors,” “extras,” or “help” that
employees could otherwise expect from management, im-
plicit threats of job loss related to strikes, and interrogation
and discriminatory treatment of Union supporters. The
coercive impact of these unfair labor practices was mag-
nified because they were committed by the Respondent’s
highest-ranking executives, including Red Rock General
Manager Nelson and Station Casinos Senior Vice Presi-
dent for Human Resources Fortino, as well as other man-
agers and supervisors at all levels. While the unit is large,
the Respondent’s unlawful conduct directly affected and
was extensively disseminated to all or nearly all unit em-
ployees.* The Respondent’s unlawful campaign clearly
had the tendency to undermine majority strength and im-
pede the election process, and the record establishes that
it worked as intended in inducing many unit employees to
visibly and publicly renounce the Union before the elec-
tion by discarding their union buttons.

The Respondent’s grants of benefits, in particular, fall
within a category of conduct that the Board and the courts
have recognized as “hallmark™ violations, which tend to
have such a coercive and long-lasting effect on employ-
ees’ free choice in a potential rerun election that, absent
“some significant mitigating circumstance,” they gener-
ally warrant a bargaining order “without extensive expli-
cation.™® The extraordinary healthcare and retirement
benefits conferred on unit employees by the Respondent
are likely to have a particularly strong coercive effect on

39 The Board has held that the impact of isolated unlawful misconduct
involving few employees carries greater weight in small units but may
be more diluted and more easily dissipated in larger units. See, e.g., Gar-
vey Marine, above, 328 NLRB at 994; Beverly California Corp., 326
NLRB 232, 235 (1998), enfd. in part, vacated in part, on other grounds
227 F.3d 817 (7th Cir. 2000). This principle does not weigh against a
bargaining order where, as here, severe and pervasive unlawful miscon-
duct directly affects all or nearly all employees in a large unit. See, e.g.,
NLRB v. Anchorage Times, above, 637 F.2d at 1370 (9th Circuit enforc-
ing Board bargaining order where large percentage of employees in large
unit received wage increases in close proximity to election); cf. Scott v.
Stephen Dunn & Associates, 241 F.3d 652, 665 (9th Cir. 2001) (“Bar-
gaining orders are not limited to small units . . . . [Where the] most seri-
ous alleged violation is the grant of benefits to the entire bargaining unit
.. . there is no basis to contend that this violation will not continue to
impact the deliberations of all of the eligible voters. The size of the bar-
gaining unit did not lessen the impact of the unfair labor practices here.”).

40 NLRB v. Jamaica Towing, Inc., 632 F.2d 208, 212-213 (2d Cir.
1980).

41 See, e.g., Holly Farms Corp., 311 NLRB 273, 281-282 (1993),
enfd. 48 F.3d 1360 (4th Cir. 1995), affd. on other grounds 517 U.S. 392
(1996).

421d. at 282 (quoting Exchange Parts, above, 375 U.S. at 409).

employee freedom of choice because, as the Board has
previously observed and the Respondent repeatedly em-
phasized to employees in this case, the grant of such eco-
nomic benefits eliminates primary reasons for organiza-
tion.* As the judge discussed, the implemented benefits
will also serve as “a continuing reminder that ‘the source
of benefits now conferred is also the source from which
future benefits must flow and which may dry up if it is not
obliged.”™*? Moreover, as the Board has previously ob-
served, unlawfully granted benefits “have a particularly
longlasting effect on employees and are difficult to rem-
edy by traditional means not only because of their signifi-
cance to the employees, but also because the Board’s tra-
ditional remedies do not require a respondent to withdraw
the benefits from employees.”*

Finally, the purposefulness of the Respondent’s coordi-
nated unlawful campaign and its continued unlawful con-
duct even after the Union lost the election, including its
unlawful failure to recall or reinstate union supporter Te-
resa Powers,* confirms that it remained intent on avoiding
a collective-bargaining obligation even at the cost of con-
tinuing to violate the law and “evidences a strong likeli-
hood of a recurrence of unlawful conduct in the event of
another organizing effort.”*

We agree with the judge, for these reasons and the rea-
sons given in his opinion, that the whole record of this case
clearly supports concluding that the possibility of erasing
the effects of the Respondent’s highly coercive miscon-
duct and ensuring a fair rerun election by the use of the
Board’s traditional remedies is slight, and we conclude
that it remains slight even with the addition of certain en-
hanced remedies as discussed further below. The judge’s
recommended bargaining order on this record is supported
by a long line of Board and court precedent stretching
back to Gissel itself.*® We accordingly find that the ma-
jority of employees’ prior free choice of the Union as their

43 Evergreen America Corp., 348 NLRB 178, 180 (2006), enfd. 531
F.3d 321 (4th Cir. 2008); see also Parts Depot, Inc., 332 NLRB 670, 675
(2000), enfd. 24 Fed.Appx. 1 (D.C. Cir. 2001); Gerig’s Dump Trucking,
Inc., 320 NLRB 1017, 1017-1018 (1996), enfd. 137 F.3d 936 (7th Cir.
1998).

4 We agree with the judge that the overwhelming weight of record
evidence indicates that the Respondent’s purported reasons for not re-
calling Powers were a pretext devised or directed by senior executives to
ensure that there would be fewer union leaders in the voting unit in the
event that a new election was ordered.

4 Garney Morris, Inc., 313 NLRB 101, 103 (1993), enfd. mem. 47
F.3d 1161 (3d Cir. 1995); see also, e.g., MJ Metal Products, 328 NLRB
1184, 1185 (1999), affd. 267 F.3d 1059 (10th Cir. 2001); Eddyleon
Chocolate, 301 NLRB 887, 891 (1991) (“The likelihood of the Respond-
ent’s misconduct recurring in a rerun election is high, as the Respond-
ent’s postelection conduct reveals continued hostility to employee
rights.”); Chromalloy Mining & Minerals v. NLRB, 620 F.2d 1120, 1131
fn. 8 (5th Cir. 1980) (“Unfair labor practices occurring after the election
... are always relevant because they demonstrate that the employer is
still opposed to unionization.”), enfg. in relevant part 238 NLRB 688
(1978).

4 See, e.g., Evergreen America, above, 348 NLRB at 180; Parts De-
pot, above, 332 NLRB at 675; Heck'’s Inc., 180 NLRB 530, 531 (1970)
(reaffirming bargaining order for grants of benefits and other violations,
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representative, as designated by authorization cards,
would be better protected by the issuance of a bargaining
order “unless some significant mitigating circumstance
exists.”6

The Respondent has not argued to the Board that
changed circumstances including the passage of time
since its unlawful conduct should preclude a bargaining
order. The Board’s traditional policy is to consider the
appropriateness of a bargaining order as of the time of the
unfair labor practices, because taking into account subse-
quent changes incentivizes prolonged litigation, under-
mining the deterrence goal identified by the Supreme
Court in Gissel as of coequal importance with the purpose
of implementing ascertainable employee free choice. ¥/
Some courts of appeals, including the Court of Appeals
for the Ninth Circuit (in which this case arises) have

after remand by Gissel, above, 395 U.S. at 615-616); Gissel Packing Co.,
180 NLRB 54, 54-55 (1969) (reaffirming bargaining order for promises
of benefits and other violations after remand by 395 U.S. at 615-616),
enfd. in the absence of an appearance by respondent No. 14404, 76
L.RRM. (BNA) 2175 (4th Cir. Nov. 9, 1970); NLRB v. Anchorage
Times, above, 637 F.2d at 1369-1370 (9th Cir. enforcing Gissel order
where wage increases were “most significant among the many unfair la-
bor practices”).

The Respondent argues on exceptions that the Board has rarely issued
an affirmative bargaining order based solely on an unlawful grant of ben-
efit and that the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit
questioned whether the Board could properly do so in Skyline Distribu-
tors v. NLRB, 99 F.3d 403 (D.C. Cir. 1996). But our determination that
a bargaining order is warranted on this record rests not only on the Re-
spondent’s extraordinary grants of economic benefits, but also on its per-
vasive coercive threats and other unlawful conduct. Our remedial deci-
sion today is fully consistent with the summary of Board case law en-
dorsed by the court in Skyline Distributors. See id. at 410-411 (citing
Julius G. Getman & Bertrand B. Pogrebin, Labor Relations: The Basic
Processes, Law and Practice 76 (1988)). Thus, the Respondent’s unfair
labor practices were demonstrably deliberate and calculated. Its prom-
ises of benefits and threats to withhold those benefits implicated very
substantial employee economic interests, and were expressly designed to
interfere with, and did interfere with, employees’ fundamental statutory
right to choose whether or not to be represented by the Union. The Re-
spondent’s unlawful conduct included reprisals against union adherents
in violation of Sec. 8(a)(3). Its promised benefits were specifically de-
signed to address employee concerns the Respondent had identified as
underlying the Union’s successful organizing activity. Finally, the Re-
spondent’s conduct involved not a single act of illegality, but scores of
interrelated unfair labor practices beginning before the Union’s petition
and continuing well after the election. Cf. Traction Wholesale Center
Co. v. NLRB, 216 F.3d 92, 105-107 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (enforcing Board’s
bargaining order after consideration of factors set forth in Skyline Dis-
tributors), enfg. in relevant part 328 NLRB 1058 (1999).

46 Jamaica Towing, above, 632 F.2d at 212.

47 See, e.g., Gissel, above, 395 U.S. at 614 (emphasizing that, where
a union has shown past majority support, bargaining order serves dual
goals of effectuating ascertainable employee free choice and deterring
employer misbehavior); Garvey Marine, above, 328 NLRB at 995 (ex-
plaining deterrence purpose of Board’s traditional practice); see also
Franks Bros. Co. v. NLRB, 321 U.S. 702, 705 (1944) (affirming Board’s
affirmative bargaining order over employer’s argument employee turno-
ver had removed union’s card majority: “The Board might well think
that, were it not to [order bargaining], but, instead order elections upon
every claim that a shift in union membership had occurred during pro-
ceedings occasioned by an employer’s wrongful refusal to bargain, re-
calcitrant employers might be able by continued opposition to union

similarly held that the Board may decline to consider
changed circumstances during intervals of litigation be-
cause this rule “prevent[s] employers from intentionally
prolonging Board proceedings in order to frustrate the is-
suance of bargaining orders.”*® Other courts of appeals,
however, including the Court of Appeals for the District
of Columbia Circuit, have required, as a condition of en-
forcing a Gissel bargaining order, that the Board deter-
mine the appropriateness of the order in light of the cir-
cumstances existing at the time it is entered.*

Here, as discussed in detail above, it is undisputed that
the Union had clear majority support by October 16,2019.
We have found that the Respondent’s pervasive unlawful
misconduct had a strong tendency to undermine, and did
undermine, the Union’s majority support and impede the
election process. We have also found that, absent

membership indefinitely to postpone performance of their statutory ob-
ligation. In the Board’s view, procedural delays necessary fairly to de-
termine charges of unfair labor practices might in this way be made the
occasion for further procedural delays in connection with repeated re-
quests for elections, thus providing employers a chance to profit from a
stubborn refusal to abide by the law. That the Board was within its stat-
utory authority in adopting the remedy which it has adopted to foreclose
the probability of such frustrations of the Act seems too plain for any-
thing but statement.”).

48 NLRB v. Bakers of Paris, 929 F.2d 1427, 1448 (9th Cir. 1991) (cit-
ing cases), enfg. 288 NLRB 991 (1988). See also, e.g., East Bay Auto-
motive Council v. NLRB, 483 F.3d 628, 635 (9th Cir. 2007) (enforcing
non-Gissel bargaining order despite 8-year litigation delay: “it would be
inappropriate to upset the Board’s order in light of a loss of employee
support that was brought about by the very wrongs being remedied,” and
“changed circumstances during intervals of adjudication ‘have been held
irrelevant to the adjudication of enforcement proceedings.’”) (quoting
Bakers of Paris, above, 929 F.2d at 1448)), enfg. 342 NLRB 1244
(2004); United Dairy Farmers Cooperative Assn. v. NLRB, 633 F.2d
1054, 1069 (3d Cir. 1980) (remanding for reconsideration of Gissel order
6 to 7 years after last unfair labor practice; holding Board may “ignore a
possible dissipation of majority support through employee turnover after
the unfair labor practice [because] ‘[t]o require the Board to determine
whether a continuing majority supports unionization . . . would be to put
a premium upon continued litigation by the employer’ and allow the em-
ployer ‘to avoid any bargaining obligation indefinitely.”””) (quoting
Hedstrom Co. v. NLRB, 629 F.2d 305, 312 (3d Cir. 1980) (en banc)),
remanding in relevant part 242 NLRB 1026 (1979).

49 See, e.g., Flamingo Hilton-Laughlin, above, 148 F.3d at 1171 & fn.
4 (citing precedent from other courts of appeals considering changed cir-
cumstances, including passage of time and employee and management
turnover). More specifically, the District of Columbia Circuit has held
that, absent “outrageous and pervasive ULP’s,” the Board must find,
based on substantial evidence, that: (1) the union, at some time, had ma-
jority support within the bargaining unit; (2) the employer’s unfair labor
practices had the tendency to undermine majority strength and impede
the election process; and (3) the possibility of erasing the effects of past
practices and of ensuring a fair rerun election by the use of traditional
remedies is slight and that employee sentiment once expressed in favor
of the union would be better protected by a bargaining order. Traction
Wholesale Center, above, 216 F.3d at 104. The court additionally re-
quires the Board to explicitly balance three considerations, as considered
at the time the Board issues its order: (1) the employees’ Sec. 7 rights;
(2) whether other purposes of the Act override the rights of employees
to choose their bargaining representatives; and (3) whether alternative
remedies are adequate to remedy the violations of the Act. Id. at 107-
108.
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mitigating circumstances, the possibility of erasing the ef-
fects of the Respondent’s highly coercive misconduct and
ensuring a fair rerun election by the use of the Board’s tra-
ditional remedies is slight and that the majority of employ-
ees’ prior free designation of the Union as their representa-
tive by authorization cards would be better protected by
the issuance of a bargaining order.

After examining the appropriateness of a bargaining or-
der under the circumstances existing at the present time,
we find that the passage of time since the Respondent’s
unfair labor practices does not constitute a mitigating cir-
cumstance warranting withholding a bargaining order in
this case. In so finding, we have duly considered the Sec-
tion 7 rights of all employees involved. Consistent with
the careful balancing of employee rights described by the
Court in Gissel, we find that issuing a bargaining order in
this case protects the rights of the majority of the Respond-
ent’s employees who previously designated the Union as
their representative for the purpose of collective bargain-
ing, while the rights of those employees who may be op-
posed to representation are safeguarded by their access to
the Board’s decertification procedure under Section
9(c)(1) of the Act, following a reasonable period of time
to allow the collective-bargaining relationship a fair
chance to succeed.’® We have also considered whether
other purposes of the Act override employees’ Section 7
right to choose their bargaining representative. We find,
again consistent with Gissel, that, because a majority of
the Respondent’s employees in an appropriate unit have
designated the Union as their representative for the

30 Cf. Orland Park Motor Cars, Inc., 333 NLRB 1017, 1018-1019
(2001) (citing Gissel, above, 395 U.S. at 612-613 & fn. 33), enfd. 309
F.3d 452, 456458 (7th Cir. 2002); Stevens Creek Chrysler Jeep Dodge,
357 NLRB 633, 639 (2011), enfd. sub nom Mathew Enterprise, Inc. v.
NLRB, 498 Fed.Appx. 45 (D.C. Cir. 2012).

1 Gissel, above, 395 U.S. at 614.

2 In considering the potential impact of changed circumstances on a
rerun election as required by the Court of Appeals for the District of Co-
lumbia Circuit and other courts of appeals, we note that the General
Counsel issued a new consolidated complaint on April 12, 2021, alleging
scores of additional violations of Sec. 8(a)(1), (3), (4), and (5) by Station
Casinos and various other entities including the Respondent as a single
employer and single integrated enterprise. On the same day, the General
Counsel moved to consolidate the new complaint with this proceeding,
and the motion and new consolidated complaint were admitted into the
record. As noted in the judge’s decision, the judge denied the General
Counsel’s motion. Under current Board policy, a Regional Director’s
determination to issue a complaint based on certain kinds of charges
could support a decision to dismiss a newly filed election petition, and a
party to a representation proceeding may seek to block a pending election
until the final disposition of outstanding unfair labor practice charges and
a determination of their effect, if any, on the election procedure. See
Rieth-Riley Construction Co., 371 NLRB No. 109, slip op. at 1 (2022);
Sec. 103.20 of the Board’s Rules and Regulations (29 C.F.R. § 103.20
(2020)). Without respect to the merits of the allegations in the April 2021
complaint, the record in this case accordingly at least suggests that
changed circumstances after the last unfair labor practices at issue here
might prevent, rather than enable, a timely and fair rerun election. Cf.
Chromalloy Mining, above, 620 F.2d 1131 & fn. 8 (considering subse-
quent unfair labor practices, along with employee and management turn-
over, as relevant to propriety of bargaining order).

purpose of collective bargaining, the Act’s dual purposes
of effectuating ascertainable employee free choice and of
deterring employer misbehavior are aligned, so that, ab-
sent the likelihood of a fair rerun election, a bargaining
order simultaneously serves both purposes without subor-
dinating either to the other.>!

It has now been four years since the Respondent unlaw-
fully failed to recall or reinstate Teresa Powers around
June 4, 2020. We cannot conclude, under the circum-
stances of this case, that this passage of time since the Re-
spondent’s last unfair labor practices has made it likely
that the Board’s traditional remedies could ensure that a
fair election could be held today.>> As we have discussed
in detail above, the Board and the courts have long and
broadly recognized that unfair labor practices such as the
Respondent’s here, especially its unlawful promises and
grants of extraordinary benefits to unit employees, tend to
impede the possibility of a fair rerun election for extended
periods of time after their commission. Accordingly,
courts that require consideration of changed circum-
stances as a condition of enforcing Board bargaining or-
ders have regularly enforced such orders after comparable
or longer periods of time where other circumstances have
not determinatively weighed against enforcement.>® Here,
we find that the passage of time, considered either by itself
or in combination with other circumstances that may have
changed during the intervening period, does not warrant
concluding that the impact of the Respondent’s coercive
misconduct has been sufficiently dissipated to permit a
fair rerun election.>

33 See, e.g., Evergreen America Corp. v. NLRB, 531 F.3d 321, 332—
333 (4th Cir. 2008) (affirming Board’s conclusion that passage of 4 years
between respondent’s unfair labor practices and Board order did not
make Gissel order unacceptable), enfg. 348 NLRB 178 (2006); NLRB v.
Goya Foods of Florida, 525 F.3d 1117, 1138 (11th Cir. 2008) (rejecting
respondent’s argument that enforcement of non-Gissel bargaining or-
der—evaluated under Gissel standard—should be denied based solely on
passage of 6 to 7 years between unfair labor practice conduct and Board
order), enfg. 347 NLRB 1118 (2006); Dunkin’ Donuts, above, 363 F.3d
at 441-442 (enforcing Board order issued 4 years after unfair labor prac-
tices); NLRB v. U.S.A. Polymer Corp., 272 F.3d 289, 293-299 (5th Cir.
2001) (enforcing Board order issued more than 4 years after unfair labor
practices), enfg. 328 NLRB 1242 (1999), cert. denied 536 U.S. 939
(2002); Garvey Marine, Inc. v. NLRB, 245 F.3d 819, 826830 (D.C. Cir.
2001) (enforcing Board order issued more than 4 years after unfair labor
practices), enfg. 328 NLRB 991 (1999); Parts Depot, above, 332 NLRB
at 674-676 (entering Gissel order more than 4 years after postelection
unfair labor practice), enfd. 24 Fed.Appx. 1 (D.C. Cir. 2001); but cf.
Cogburn Health Center, Inc. v. NLRB, 437 F.3d 1266, 1272-1276 (deny-
ing enforcement to Board order on finding Board failed to consider re-
spondent’s proffered evidence of changed circumstances during 5 years
between unfair labor practices and Board order), denying enf. in relevant
part to 335 NLRB 1397 (2001); Flamingo Hilton-Laughlin, above, 148
F.3d at 1170-1173 (remanding for reconsideration on finding Board
failed to explain necessity of order at time of issuance 4 years after unfair
labor practices).

3 See Flamingo Hilton-Laughlin, above, 148 F.3d at 1178 (Rogers,
J., concurring) (explaining that “while the passage of time, in and of it-
self, should not be dispositive,” Board must consider “whether the inter-
vening years, in conjunction with the changed circumstances, have
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Finally, apart from our conclusions about the continuing
impact of the Respondent’s past misconduct, we have
found, as discussed above, that the whole record in this
case—from the inception of the Respondent’s carefully
calculated unlawful antiunion campaign to its postelection
attempt to minimize the presence of union adherents in the
unit before a possible rerun election—suggests that the
Respondent would likely meet a renewed union campaign,
even at the present date, with further misconduct.>

For all these reasons, we conclude that a bargaining or-
der under Gissel is warranted, necessary, and appropriate
to effectuate the purposes and policies of the Act under
presently existing circumstances.>

Application of Cemex

After the judge issued his decision in this case, the
Board issued a decision in Cemex Construction Materials
Pacific, LLC)7 in which it set forth a new standard for
evaluating employers’ statutory obligations when faced
with a union’s claim to represent its employees. Under the
new standard, an employer violates Section 8(a)(5) and (1)
of the Act by refusing to recognize, upon request, a repre-
sentative designated for the purposes of collective bar-
gaining, within the meaning of Section 9(a), by a majority
of employees in an appropriate unit, unless the employer
promptly files a petition pursuant to Section 9(c)(1)(B) (an
RM petition), or unless the union files a petition pursuant
to Section 9(c)(1)(A) (an RC petition). An employer may
lawfully test the union’s claim of majority support and/or
challenge the appropriateness of the unit by filing its own

helped dissipate the remaining effects of [the respondent’s] unfair labor
practices.”).

Courts reviewing Board Gissel orders have required the Board “to ex-
plain its own delay,” and to address the impact of “extraordinary delays”
upon the propriety of a bargaining order, as conditions of enforcing the
Board’s order. See NLRB v. Intersweet, Inc., 125 F.3d 1064, 1069 (7th
Cir. 1997) (reviewing 7th Circuit cases), enfg. 321 NLRB 1 (1996); Cog-
burn Health Center, above, 437 F.3d at 1275. While the Board strives
for expeditious adjudication, it is impossible entirely to eliminate “pro-
cedural delays necessary fairly to determine charges of unfair labor prac-
tices.” Franks Bros. Co., above, 321 U.S. at 705; see also Intersweet,
above, 125 F.3d at 1068—-1069 (characterizing a 3- to 4-year period be-
tween unfair labor practices and Board order as “an ordinary institutional
time lapse inherent in the legal process.”). Here, the Board’s fair con-
sideration of charges and election objections has required unavoidable
delays at various stages of litigation. Factors contributing to these delays
include: the large number of unfair labor practice allegations tried by the
judge (more than 160, including cumulative allegations) and the conse-
quentially lengthy record (7295 transcript pages), the number of issues
contested before the Board (the Respondent filed 279 numbered excep-
tions to the judge’s decision, and the General Counsel filed 24 cross-
exceptions), and extensive briefing to the Board pursuant to requests to
exceed ordinary page and time limits (the parties filed 545 pages of ex-
ceptions and briefs over about 5 months following the judge’s decision).
The onset of COVID-19 during the pendency of this case also impacted
the pace of both regional proceedings and the hearing, which ultimately
extended to 58 days of fully remote video proceedings between October
2020 and June 2021.

3 See Gissel, above, 395 U.S. at 614 (“In fashioning a remedy in the
exercise of its discretion . . . the Board can properly take into considera-
tion . . . the likelihood of [misconduct’s] recurrence in the future.”).

RM petition or may await the processing of an RC petition
filed by the union. However, if, during the pendency of
such a petition, the employer commits an unfair labor
practice that requires setting aside the election under the
Board’s extant standards, the petition (whether filed by the
employer or the union) will be dismissed. In that situation,
the Board will instead rely on the prior designation of a
representative by the majority of employees by nonelec-
tion means, as expressly permitted by Section 9(a), and
will issue an order requiring the employer to recognize and
bargain with the union from the date that the union re-
quested recognition from the employer.>® The Board fol-
lowed its usual practice to apply the new standard retroac-
tively to all pending cases in whatever stage.>

Here, the General Counsel alleged that the Respondent
violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing and refusing to
bargain with the Union after the Union requested, by filing
the November 22, 2019 petition, that the Respondent rec-
ognize it as the exclusive collective-bargaining repre-
sentative of its unit employees. As discussed above, the
parties extensively litigated the question of the Union’s
card majority, and it is currently undisputed that a majority
of unit employees had designated the Union as their bar-
gaining representative by October 16, 2019. On the last
day of the hearing, the parties entered a joint stipulation
agreeing to the appropriate unit in this case. Finally, the
Respondent’s extensive unfair labor practices detailed
above and in the judge’s decision required that the election
in this case be set aside. Based on the complaint

36 The General Counsel requests that the Board overrule Sysco Grand
Rapids, LLC, in which the Board concluded that—despite the presence
of severe unfair labor practices that would otherwise warrant the issuance
of a bargaining order—employees’ rights would be better served by pro-
ceeding directly to a second election, however flawed, because entering
a bargaining order would likely engender further delay in litigation over
the propriety of that order, and litigation delays might ultimately result
in changed circumstances rendering a bargaining order unenforceable in
some courts of appeals. 367 NLRB No. 111, slip op. at 2 (2019), enfd.
in part 825 Fed.Appx. 348 (6th Cir. 2020). The Respondent answers that
Sysco Grand Rapids has no application in this case because, while it con-
tends that no bargaining order is warranted, it has not argued either to the
judge or to the Board that changed circumstances since its alleged unfair
labor practices should preclude such an order. In any case, we do not
read Sysco Grand Rapids and other cases where the Board has declined
to issue a bargaining order on similar pragmatic grounds as binding on
our remedial determination in cases that present different facts. Cf., e.g.,
Parts Depot, above, 332 NLRB at 676 & fn. 35 (entering Gissel order
more than 4 years after unfair labor practice, distinguishing cases in
which Board declined to enter bargaining order based on enforceability
considerations); Garvey Marine, above, 328 NLRB at 997-998 (same).
Additionally, as discussed above, our order in this case rests not only on
the continuing impact of the Respondent’s extensive preelection miscon-
duct, but also on our conclusion that its continuing hostility to employee
rights after the election shows a likelihood that our direction of a second
election would be met by further misconduct. See, e.g., Garney Morris,
above, 313 NLRB at 103. We accordingly conclude, for the reasons dis-
cussed above, that a Gissel bargaining order is appropriate at this time
and enforceable under current circuit court precedent.

37372 NLRB No. 130 (2023).

38372 NLRB No. 130, slip op. at 25-26.

3 1d., slip op. at 29-30.



12 DECISIONS OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

allegations and the record, we conclude that: (1) the Re-
spondent refused the Union’s request to bargain;®® (2) at a
time when the Union had in fact been designated repre-
sentative by a majority of employees; (3) in an appropriate
unit; and then (4) committed unfair labor practices requir-
ing the election to be set aside, violating Section 8(a)(5)
under the standard announced in Cemex.

We accordingly conclude that, in addition to the Gissel
rationale discussed above, a bargaining order in this case
is alternatively warranted, necessary, and appropriate to
remedy the Respondent’s refusal to bargain with the Un-
ion in violation of Section 8(a)(5) and to effectuate the
policies of the Act for the reasons set forth in the Board’s
decision in Cemex.

AMENDED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Substitute the following for paragraph 4.

“4. Respondent Red Rock engaged in unfair labor prac-
tices in violation of Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by
the following conduct:

a. By refusing to recognize and bargain collectively
with the Union as the exclusive bargaining representative
of the employees in the following appropriate unit, while
engaging in the conduct described above that undermined
the Union’s support, required setting aside the election,
and prevented a fair rerun election:

All full-time and regular part-time assistant food servers,
bakers, banquet bartenders, banquet porters, banquets
setup, bar porters, bartenders, bell persons, bell starters,
beverage porters, beverage servers, beverage
(Race/Sports), banquet servers, bus persons/bussers,
cake decorators, captains, coffee breakers, concession
workers, cooks, cook’s helpers, counter attendants, ex-
terior ground porters, food servers, gourmet hostper-
son/cashiers, gourmet VIP attendants, host/cashiers,
housekeeping utility porters, ice cream concession
workers, interior ground porters, kitchen runners,
kitchen workers, lead banquet porters, lead counter at-
tendants, lead servers, mini bar attendants, pantry, por-
ters, resort guest room attendants, resort housepersons,
resort suite guest room attendants, resort steakhouse
cooks, room runners, room service captains, runners,
service bartenders, specialty cooks, servers, sprinters,
status board, stove persons, team member dining room
(TDR) attendants, utility porters, VIP attendants, VIP
bartenders, VIP hosts, and VIP lounge attendants em-
ployed by the employer at its facility located at 11011
West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada; ex-
cluding all other employees, front desk employees, valet
parkers, retail cashier/clerks, gaming employees (deal-
ers, slot attendants, cage -cashiers), inspectresses,

% The Respondent and the Union entered a stipulation in Case 28—
RC-252280 on December 5, 2019, that provides, inter alia: “The Peti-
tioner claims to represent the employees in the unit . . . and the Employer
declines to recognize the Petitioner.” The Board in Cemex found that the

engineering and maintenance employees, office clerical
employees, guards, managers, and supervisors as de-
fined by the Act.

b. By failing to provide the Union with prior notice and
an opportunity to bargain over its June 4, 2020 termination
of its 2015 and 2016 table-swap agreements and the ef-
fects of that decision.”

AMENDED REMEDY

Having found that the Respondents engaged in certain
unfair labor practices, we shall order them to cease and
desist and to take certain affirmative action designed to
effectuate the policies of the Act. Specifically, we amend
the judge’s remedy in the following respects.

In addition to the provisions set forth in the judge’s rec-
ommended remedy, in accordance with our decision in
Thryv, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 22 (2022), enf. denied on other
grounds  F.4th  (5th Cir. May 24, 2024), Respondent
Red Rock shall also compensate Teresa Powers for any
other direct or foreseeable pecuniary harms incurred as a
result of the unlawful failure to recall her from layoff sta-
tus, including reasonable search-for-work and interim em-
ployment expenses, if any, regardless of whether these ex-
penses exceed interim earnings. Respondent Red Rock
shall likewise compensate employees affected by its un-
lawful termination of the table-swap agreements for any
other direct or foreseeable pecuniary harms incurred as a
result of the unlawful termination. Compensation for
these harms shall be calculated separately from taxable net
backpay, with interest at the rate prescribed in New Hori-
zons, 283 NLRB 1173 (1987), compounded daily as pre-
scribed in Kentucky River Medical Center, 356 NLRB 6
(2010).

The General Counsel contends on cross-exceptions to
the judge’s decision that the Respondent’s conduct in this
case warrants several additional remedial provisions be-
yond those ordered by the judge. We agree.

First, the General Counsel requests that the Board mod-
ify the judge’s recommended order to include a broad
cease-and-desist provision, which, in addition to the
cease-and-desist provisions directed at specific violations
of the Act, prohibits the Respondent from “in any other
manner interfering with, restraining or coercing employ-
ees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed them by Sec-
tion 7 of the Act.” The Board has held that a broad order
is warranted when a respondent: (1) “is shown to have a
proclivity to violate the Act” or (2) “has engaged in such
egregious or widespread misconduct as to demonstrate a
general disregard for the employees’ fundamental statu-
tory rights.”®! 1In either situation, the Board asks whether
a respondent’s specific unlawful conduct, in the totality of

respondent there had refused the union’s request to bargain based on a
relevantly identical posture. 372 NLRB No. 130, slip op. at 13 & fn. 71,
29 & fns. 154, 155.

! Hickmott Foods, 242 NLRB 1357, 1357 (1979).
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circumstances, “manifests ‘an attitude of opposition to the
purposes of the Act to protect the rights of employees gen-
erally,” which would provide an objective basis for enjoin-
ing a reasonably anticipated future threat to any of those
Section 7 rights.”®> Where the respondent’s “egregious or
widespread misconduct” otherwise warrants a broad or-
der, the absence of evidence of prior unfair labor practices
does not undermine the necessity for such an order.®

For the following reasons, we find that the Respond-
ent’s conduct in this case warrants a broad order under the
“egregious or widespread misconduct” prong of the Hick-
mott test.* First, as discussed in detail above, the Re-
spondent engaged in pervasive and varied unlawful con-
duct for an extended period of time with a clear wide-
spread coercive effect upon all or nearly all unit employ-
ees. The unprecedented character of the benefits promised
and threatened to be withheld supports characterizing this
conduct as “egregious.” The Board has issued broad or-
ders for conduct of comparable severity even absent evi-
dence of recidivism.® Moreover, the most important un-
fair labor practices here were planned and executed by the
Respondent’s and Station Casinos’ top management and
owners, for the express purpose of interfering with em-
ployees’ Section 7 rights.®® The unusually direct evidence
of top management’s unlawful motivation in this case
plainly provides “an objective basis for enjoining a rea-
sonably anticipated future threat to” the Section 7 rights

2 Five Star Mfg., Inc., 348 NLRB 1301, 1302 (2006) (quoting Postal
Service, 345 NLRB 409, 410 (2005)), enfd. 278 Fed.Appx. 697 (8th Cir.
2008).

03 See, e.g., Five Star Mfg., above, 348 NLRB at 1302-1303; Trailmo-
bile Trailer, LLC, 343 NLRB 95, 95 fn. 2 (2004); Federated Logistics,
above, 340 NLRB at 257-258 & fn. 9; accord NLRB v. Blake Construc-
tion Co., 663 F.2d 272, 285-286 (D.C. Cir 1981) (enforcing broad order
based on Hickmott “egregious or widespread misconduct” prong: “The
mere fact that the Company has no prior record of NLRB violations does
not, in itself, dissipate the egregiousness of the conduct involved in this
proceeding.”), enfg. in relevant part 245 NLRB 630 (1979).

% We agree with the judge that the General Counsel has not shown
prior unlawful conduct by the Respondent establishing a proclivity to
violate the Act within the meaning of Hickmott’s first prong. We specif-
ically decline to rely on the Board’s decision in Station Casinos, LLC,
358 NLRB 1556 (2012), because, as the judge correctly noted, that deci-
sion was invalidated by the Supreme Court’s decision in NLRB v. Noel
Canning, 573 U.S. 513 (2014). See, e.g., Boar’s Head Provisions,
above, 370 NLRB No. 124, slip op. at 2 fn. 2.

% Cf., e.g., Stern Produce Co., 368 NLRB No. 31, slip op. at 5-6
(2019) (entering broad order for interrogations, impression of surveil-
lance, and various threats and promises of benefits); Federated Logistics,
above, 340 NLRB at 257 (entering broad order for unlawful no-solicita-
tion policy; interrogation; surveillance and solicitation of employees to
conduct surveillance; solicitation of grievances; promises of benefits;
various threats; and discriminatory warnings and suspensions).

% Cf. Sysco Grand Rapids, above, 367 NLRB No. 111, slip op. at 1-
2 (adopting judge’s recommended broad order where “much of [the re-
spondent’s pervasive unlawful conduct] was perpetrated by high-level
management officials, including the [respondent’s] president and a high-
ranking official of the [respondent’s] corporate parent”); Federated Lo-
gistics, above, 340 NLRB at 257 (participation of high-level manage-
ment officials contributed to pervasive and chilling effect of violations,
supporting remedies including broad order).

7 Five Star Mfg., above, 348 NLRB at 1302.

of employees generally.’’ We accordingly amend the
judge’s recommended remedy to include a broad cease-
and-desist order.%®

Next, the General Counsel requests that the Board in-
clude remedial provisions requiring the Respondent: (1) to
post an explanation of employee rights in addition to the
Board’s notice; (2) to provide employees with copies of
the notice and explanation of rights prior to the required
public reading of these documents; and (3) to mail copies
of these documents to employees’ homes. After the judge
issued his decision in this case, the Board issued a decision
in Noah’s Ark Processors, LLC d/b/a WR Reserve, in
which it discussed a number of potential remedies that the
Board will consider, alone or in combination, when a re-
spondent has shown a proclivity to violate the Act or has
engaged in egregious or widespread misconduct warrant-
ing a broad cease-and-desist order.%

The Board explained in Noah’s Ark that broad order
cases will often warrant ordering a respondent to post,
read, and/or mail to employees an explanation of rights
because they “involve respondents that have been found
to violate and disregard employees’ rights in numerous,
egregious, or repeated ways,” producing a more severe
chilling effect that makes appropriate a more comprehen-
sive explanation of rights than the usual notice.” The
Board has found an explanation of rights, “coupled with
clear general examples that are specifically relevant to the

% In finding that a broad cease-and-desist order is warranted, we reject
the General Counsel’s suggestion that our inclusion of such a provision
is supported by a Federal district court’s entry of a broad order as part of
a temporary injunction under Sec. 10(j) of the Act. See Overstreet v. NP
Red Rock, No. 2:20-cv-02351-GMN-VCF, 2021 WL 3064120 (D. Ne-
vada, July 20, 2021). It is well established that district courts’ Sec. 10(j)
determinations are not binding on the Board. See, e.g., Electro-Voice,
Inc., 320 NLRB 1094, 1094 fn. 2 (1996). Moreover, “[i]n seeking an
injunction under [Sec.] 10(j) . . . the Board does not decide the ultimate
merits of a labor dispute, but need show only that there is a reasonable
cause to believe that unfair labor practices have been committed.” San-
ford Home for Adults, above, 669 F.2d at 37 (internal quotation omitted).
“The initial charge or determination of probable cause and the ultimate
adjudication have different bases or purposes,” and our determination of
an appropriate remedy after full consideration of the case does not rely
on the district court’s determination pursuant to a Sec. 10(j) proceeding.
Kessel Food Markets, above, 868 F.2d at 888.

We further reject the Respondent’s contention that our entry of a Gis-
sel order precludes a broad cease-and-desist order. These two remedial
provisions serve different purposes: the affirmative bargaining order ef-
fectuates and deters interference with “ascertainable employee free
choice,” Gissel, above, 395 U.S. at 614, while the broad order deters rea-
sonably anticipated employer conduct in “opposition to the purposes of
the Act to protect the rights of employees generally.” Five Star Mfg.,
above, 348 NLRB at 1302. Consistent with this distinction, the Board
has previously entered both a Gissel order and a broad cease-and-desist
order in the same case where it has found both separately warranted. See,
e.g., Aldworth Co., above, 338 NLRB at 153—154.

9372 NLRB No. 80, slip op. at 4-9 (2023), enfd. 98 F.4th 896 (8th
Cir. 2024). Having considered the full range of remedies discussed in
Noah’s Ark, we decline to enter those not discussed herein.

70 1d., slip op. at 5-6 (citing David Saxe Productions, 370 NLRB No.
103 (2021); HTH Corp. d/b/a Pacific Beach Hotel, 361 NLRB 709
(2014), enfd. in relevant part 823 F.3d 668 (D.C. Cir. 2016)).
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unfair labor practices found” especially appropriate where
the rights of “many employees have been broadly sup-
pressed for an extended period of time and in numerous
ways.”"!

Here, we find that the character of the Respondent’s
most important misconduct particularly warrants an expla-
nation of rights to help employees understand: (1) that the
Respondent’s promises and grants of benefits were unlaw-
ful not in and of themselves but because they were de-
signed to interfere with employees’ free choice in the rep-
resentation election; (2) that it would be illegal for the Re-
spondent to withhold or withdraw benefits in retaliation
for employees’ selection of the Union as their collective-
bargaining representative; and (3) that legal rules govern-
ing the Respondent’s bargaining conduct would require it
to bargain “with a sincere intent to reach an agreement,”
rather than with a purpose to draw bargaining out for
years, as at Palace and Boulder Stations.” In order to help
employees both to understand their own rights under the
Act and to police the Respondent’s bargaining conduct
pursuant to the affirmative bargaining order, we accord-
ingly shall order the Respondent to post the explanation of
rights attached to this decision as “Appendix B” for the
same period and under the same conditions as the notice,
and as discussed below, to read and mail the explanation
of rights to its employees.

The Board held in Noah’s Ark that, in cases where a
reading of the notice and/or explanation of rights is re-
quired, copies of these documents should be distributed to
employees at the meetings before the readings to facilitate
employee comprehension.”” And the Board explained
that, in broad-order cases involving violations that per-
vade the workplace, requiring that these documents be
mailed to employees reaches current and former employ-
ees who were affected by the employer’s misconduct but
would not see a posted document or be able to attend the

7! Pacific Beach Hotel, above, 361 NLRB at 714.

72 Cf. id. at 739 (ordering explanation of rights stating it is illegal to
promise benefits to discourage union support and describing rules gov-
erning employer’s conduct during collective bargaining).

73 Noah’s Ark, above, 372 NLRB No. 80, slip op. at 6-7.

Member Prouty would make the reading aloud of the notice at a group
meeting—in the employees’ own language or languages, accompanied
by the distribution of the notice to employees at the start of the meeting—
part of the standard remedy for all unfair labor practices found by the
Board. See United Scrap Metal, 372 NLRB No. 49, slip op. at 1 fn. 3
(2023); CP Anchorage Hotel 2 d/b/a Hilton Anchorage, 371 NLRB No.
151, slip op. at 9—10 (2022) (Member Prouty, concurring), enfd. 98 F.4th
314 (D.C. Cir. 2024).

74 The Board has recently ordered a mailing remedy where, as here,
the record established that employees were laid off during the COVID-
19 pandemic but did not establish that all laid-off employees had returned
to work. Amerinox Processing, Inc., 371 NLRB No. 105, slip op. at 4
(2022).

75 Noah’s Ark, above, 372 NLRB No. 80, slip op. at 7.

76 See, e.g., id., slip op. at 6 (Board should consider requiring reading
by or presence of official directly responsible for violations), 7 (Board
may consider requiring documented attendance by supervisors and man-
agers); Pacific Beach Hotel, above, 361 NLRB at 716 & fn. 27 (specify-
ing distribution of attendance of supervisors/managers among multiple

readings.”* The Board further observed that in such cases
notice mailing will “help to rebuild employees’ confi-
dence in and understanding of their rights without fear of
retaliation or calling attention to their choice to accept and
view the notice and explanation of rights (or refrain from
doing s0).”” Here, in addition to these considerations, the
Respondent’s use of home mailings in its unlawful anti-
union campaign confirms that it considers mailings among
the best available means to reach all unit employees. We
accordingly find that it is appropriate in this case to require
the Respondent to distribute copies of the notice and ex-
planation of rights to employees at the required notice-
reading meetings and to mail copies of these documents to
employees’ homes. The Respondent shall mail copies of
the signed notice and explanation of rights to each em-
ployee who was employed in the unit at any time since
September 19, 2019 (the date of the Respondent’s first un-
lawful conduct in this case), within the time set forth in
our Order. The Respondent must maintain and make
available for inspection proofs of mailings and receipts in
connection with this mailing obligation.

The General Counsel has also requested that the Board
amend the judge’s remedy to specifically require that Hu-
man Resources Senior Vice President Phil Fortino (or a
Board agent in Fortino’s presence) read the notice in Gen-
eral Manager Scott Nelson’s presence at every meeting,
that Chief Operating Officer Robert Finch attend at least
one meeting, and that meetings be scheduled so that em-
ployees attend alongside their supervisors and managers
in their respective departments. Given Fortino’s direct re-
sponsibility for—and Nelson, Finch, and many supervi-
sors’ direct involvement in—the unfair labor practice con-
duct here, the General Counsel’s request is clearly appro-
priate and supported by extant Board and court precedent,
and we shall modify the judge’s recommended Order ac-
cordingly.”

meetings); accord Shamrock Foods Co. v. NLRB, 779 Fed.Appx. 752,
756 (D.C. Cir. 2019) (affirming Board’s order requiring reading or at-
tendance by specific officials).

The General Counsel further requests that the Board clarify the
judge’s recommended electronic notice-posting remedy to expressly re-
quire the Respondent to display the notice and explanation of rights on
the same back-of-house televisions where it displayed antiunion messag-
ing during the campaign and on its campaign website. Such a require-
ment appears consistent with ordinary procedure as outlined in the Gen-
eral Counsel’s casehandling manuals applied to this record. See, e.g.,
NLRB Casehandling Manual (Part One) Unfair Labor Practice Proceed-
ings Sec. 10132.4(b) (Electronic Notice Posting) (“Electronic posting
should . . . be required if the charged party utilized electronic means to
commit an unfair labor practice.”); see also Public Service Co. of Okla-
homa (PSO), 334 NLRB 487, 490-491 (2001) (ordering email distribu-
tion of notice where unfair labor practice conduct involved email), enfd.
318 F.3d 1173 (10th Cir. 2003). However, in adopting the current stand-
ard electronic-notice-posting requirement, the Board held that “questions
as to whether a particular type of electronic notice is appropriate should
be resolved at the compliance stage.” J. Picini Flooring, 356 NLRB 11,
13-14 (2010). We accordingly leave any questions about the details of
the notice-posting requirement ordered herein to resolution during a sub-
sequent compliance proceeding.
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ORDER

The National Labor Relations Board orders that the Re-
spondent NP Red Rock LLC d/b/a Red Rock Casino Re-
sort Spa, Las Vegas, Nevada, its officers, agents, succes-
sors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

(a) Coercively interrogating employees about their un-
ion membership, activities, sympathies, and/or support for
Local Joint Executive Board of Las Vegas a/w Unite Here
International Union (the Union).

(b) Promising, announcing, or granting benefits to em-
ployees in order to discourage them from selecting union
representation.

(c) Threatening employees with the loss, withholding,
or withdrawal of benefits if they select union representa-
tion.

(d) Threatening employees with job loss as a result of
a strike if they select union representation.

(e) Threatening employees with unspecified reprisals if
they select union representation.

(f) Threatening employees that selecting a union repre-
sentative would be futile.

(g) Displaying campaign material during a representa-
tion election campaign containing employees’ images
without their consent and without a disclaimer stating that
the campaign material is not intended to reflect the views
of the employees appearing in it.

(h) Issuing disciplinary warnings to employees because
of their support for and activities on behalf of the Union.

(1) Issuing discriminatory work assignments to employ-
ees because of their support for and activities on behalf of
the Union.

(j) Failing to recall or reinstate laid-off employees be-
cause of their support for and activities on behalf of the
Union.

(k) Failing and refusing to recognize and bargain with
the Union as the exclusive collective-bargaining repre-
sentative of the employees in the bargaining unit.

() Changing the terms and conditions of employment
of its unit employees without first notifying the Union and
giving it an opportunity to bargain.

() In any other manner interfering with, restraining, or
coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guaran-
teed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to
effectuate the policies of the Act.

(a) To the extent it has not already done so, remove, or
request Station Casinos to remove, images of employees
that were posted on Station Casinos’ antiunion website be-
ginning in late November 2019 without the employees’
consent.

Finally, in light of the affirmative bargaining order, we find it unnec-
essary to order certain additional remedial provisions requested by the
General Counsel that are designed to enhance the Union’s access to unit
employees prior to a second election. Absent a bargaining order, we

(b) Within 14 days from the date of this Order, offer
Teresa Powers full reinstatement to her former job, or, if
that job no longer exists, to a substantially equivalent po-
sition, without prejudice to her seniority or any other
rights or privileges previously enjoyed.

(c) Make Teresa Powers whole for any loss of earnings
and other benefits, and for any other direct or foreseeable
pecuniary harms suffered as a result of the discrimination
against her, in the manner set forth in the remedy section
of the judge’s decision as amended in this decision.

(d) Compensate Teresa Powers for the adverse tax con-
sequences, if any, of receiving a lump-sum backpay
award, and file with the Regional Director for Region 28,
within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed,
either by agreement of Board order, a report allocating the
backpay award to the appropriate calendar year(s).

(e) File with the Regional Director for Region 28,
within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed
by agreement or Board order or such additional time as the
Regional Director may allow for good cause shown, a
copy of Teresa Powers’s corresponding W-2 form(s) re-
flecting the backpay award.

(f) Within 14 days from the date of this Order, remove
from its files any reference to the unlawful disciplinary
warnings issued to Claudia Montano, and within 3 days
thereafter, notify her that this has been done and that the
disciplinary warnings will not be used against her in any
way.

(g) On request, bargain with the Union as the exclusive
collective-bargaining representative of the employees in
the following appropriate unit concerning terms and con-
ditions of employment and, if an understanding is reached,
embody the understanding in a signed agreement:

All full-time and regular part-time assistant food servers,
bakers, banquet bartenders, banquet porters, banquets
setup, bar porters, bartenders, bell persons, bell starters,
beverage porters, beverage servers, beverage
(Race/Sports), banquet servers, bus persons/bussers,
cake decorators, captains, coffee breakers, concession
workers, cooks, cook’s helpers, counter attendants, ex-
terior ground porters, food servers, gourmet hostper-
son/cashiers, gourmet VIP attendants, host/cashiers,
housekeeping utility porters, ice cream concession
workers, interior ground porters, kitchen runners,
kitchen workers, lead banquet porters, lead counter at-
tendants, lead servers, mini bar attendants, pantry, por-
ters, resort guest room attendants, resort housepersons,
resort suite guest room attendants, resort steakhouse
cooks, room runners, room service captains, runners,
service bartenders, specialty cooks, servers, sprinters,
status board, stove persons, team member dining room

would find these remedies necessary and appropriate to effectuate the
policies of the Act. See, e.g., Haddon House Food Products, 242 NLRB
1057, 1058-1059 (1979), enfd. in relevant part sub nom. Teamsters Lo-
cal 115 v. NLRB, 640 F.2d 392, 399-400 (D.C. Cir. 1981).
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(TDR) attendants, utility porters, VIP attendants, VIP
bartenders, VIP hosts, and VIP lounge attendants em-
ployed by the employer at its facility located at 11011
West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada; ex-
cluding all other employees, front desk employees, valet
parkers, retail cashier/clerks, gaming employees (deal-
ers, slot attendants, cage cashiers), inspectresses, engi-
neering and maintenance employees, office clerical em-
ployees, guards, managers, and supervisors as defined
by the Act.

(h) Before implementing any changes in wages, hours,
or other terms and conditions of employment of unit em-
ployees, notify and, on request, bargain with the Union as
the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of em-
ployees in the bargaining unit.

(i) Rescind the change in terms and conditions of em-
ployment for its unit employees that was unilaterally im-
plemented on June 4, 2020.

(j) Make employees whole for any loss of earnings and
benefits, and for any other direct or foreseeable pecuniary
harms, suffered as a result of its unlawful termination of
the table-swap agreements in the manner set forth in the
remedy section of the judge’s decision as amended in this
decision.

(k) Compensate affected employees for the adverse tax
consequences, if any, of receiving a lump-sum backpay
award, and file with the Regional Director for Region 28,
within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed,
either by agreement or Board order, a report allocating the
backpay award to the appropriate calendar year(s).

() File with the Regional Director for Region 28,
within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed
by agreement or Board order or such additional time as the
Regional Director may allow for good cause shown, a
copy of each backpay recipient’s corresponding W-2
form(s) reflecting the backpay award.

(m) Preserve and, within 14 days of a request, or such
additional time as the Regional Director may allow for
good cause shown, provide at a reasonable place desig-
nated by the Board or its agents, all payroll records, social
security payment records, timecards, personnel records
and reports, and all other records, including an electronic
copy of such records if stored in electronic form, neces-
sary to analyze the amount of backpay due under the terms
of this Order.

77 1f the facility involved in these proceedings is open and staffed by
a substantial complement of employees, the notice and explanation of
rights must be posted and read within 14 days after service by the Region.
If the facility involved in these proceedings is closed or not staffed by a
substantial complement of employees due to the Coronavirus Disease
2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, the notice and explanation of rights must
be posted and read within 14 days after the facility reopens and a sub-
stantial complement of employees has returned to work. If, while closed
or not staffed by a substantial complement of employees due to the pan-
demic, the Respondent is communicating with its employees by elec-
tronic means, the notice and explanation of rights must also be posted by
such electronic means within 14 days after service by the Region. If the

(n) Post at its Las Vegas, Nevada, facility copies of the
attached notice marked “Appendix A” and explanation of
rights marked “Appendix B” in both English and Spanish.
Copies of the notice and explanation of rights, on forms
provided by the Regional Director for Region 28, after be-
ing signed by the Respondent’s authorized representative,
shall be posted by the Respondent and maintained for 60
consecutive days in conspicuous places, including all
places where notices to employees are customarily posted.
In addition to physical posting of paper notices, notices
shall be distributed electronically, such as by email, post-
ing on an intranet or an internet site, and/or other elec-
tronic means, if the Respondent customarily communi-
cates with its employees by such means. Reasonable steps
shall be taken by the Respondent to ensure that the notices
are not altered, defaced, or covered by any other mate-
rial.”’

(o) Within 14 days after service by the Region, dupli-
cate and mail, at its own expense, copies of the attached
notice marked “Appendix A” and the attached explanation
of rights marked “Appendix B” in both English and Span-
ish, after being signed by the Respondent’s authorized
representative, to all current and former unit employees
employed by the Respondent at its Las Vegas, Nevada fa-
cility at any time since September 19, 2019, at their home
addresses. The Respondent shall maintain proofs of mail-
ings as set forth in the Amended Remedy section of this
decision.

(p) Hold a meeting or meetings during working hours
at its facility in Las Vegas, Nevada, scheduled to ensure
the widest possible attendance of bargaining unit employ-
ees, at which the attached Notice to Employees marked
“Appendix A” and the attached explanation of rights
marked “Appendix B” will be read to employees in Eng-
lish and Spanish by human resources senior vice president
Phil Fortino (or his successor), in the presence of General
Manager Scott Nelson (or his successor), a Board agent,
and, if the Union so desires, a union representative, or, at
the Respondent’s option, by a Board agent in the presence
of Fortino (or his successor), Nelson (or his successor)
and, if the Union so desires, a union representative. Chief
Operating Officer Robert Finch must attend at least one
meeting, and the meetings must be scheduled so that su-
pervisors and managers of the Respondent’s respective
departments attend alongside the unit employees they

notice and explanation of rights to be physically posted were posted elec-
tronically more than 60 days before physical posting of the notice and
explanation of rights, the notice shall state at the bottom that “This notice
is the same notice previously [sent or posted] electronically on [date],”
and the explanation of rights shall state at the bottom that “This explana-
tion of rights is the same explanation of rights previously [sent or posted]
electronically on [date].” If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a
United States court of appeals, the words in the notice and explanation
of rights reading “Posted and Mailed by Order of the National Labor Re-
lations Board” shall read “Posted and Mailed Pursuant to a Judgment of
the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the National
Labor Relations Board.”
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supervise and manage. Copies of the notice and explana-
tion of rights, in English and Spanish, after being signed
by the Respondent’s authorized representative, will be dis-
tributed by a Board agent during this meeting or meetings
to each unit employee in attendance before the notice and
explanation of rights are read.

(q) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with
the Regional Director for Region 28 a sworn certification
of a responsible official on a form provided by the Region
attesting to the steps that the Respondent has taken to com-
ply.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent NP Boulder
LLC d/b/a Boulder Station Hotel & Casino, Las Vegas,
Nevada, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

(a) Displaying campaign material during a representa-
tion election campaign containing employees’ images
without their consent and without a disclaimer stating that
the campaign material is not intended to reflect the views
of the employees appearing in it.

(b) In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to
effectuate the policies of the Act.

(a) To the extent it has not already done so, remove, or
request Station Casinos to remove, images of employees
that were posted on Station Casinos’ antiunion website be-
ginning in late November 2019 without the employees’
consent.

(b) Post at its Las Vegas, Nevada, facility copies of the
attached notice marked “Appendix C” in both English and
Spanish. Copies of the notice, on forms provided by the
Regional Director for Region 28, after being signed by the
Respondent’s authorized representative, shall be posted
by the Respondent and maintained for 60 consecutive days
in conspicuous places, including all places where notices
to employees are customarily posted. In addition to phys-
ical posting of paper notices, notices shall be distributed
electronically, such as by email, posting on an intranet or
an internet site, and/or other electronic means, if the Re-
spondent customarily communicates with its employees
by such means. Reasonable steps shall be taken by the
Respondent to ensure that the notices are not altered, de-
faced, or covered by any other material. If the Respondent
has gone out of business or closed the facility involved in
these proceedings, the Respondent shall duplicate and

78 If the facility involved in this proceeding is open and staffed by a
substantial complement of employees, the notice must be posted within
14 days after service by the Region. If the facility involved in this pro-
ceeding is closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of employ-
ees due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, the no-
tice must be posted and read within 14 days after the facility reopens and
a substantial complement of employees have returned to work. If, while
closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of employees due to
the pandemic, the Respondent is communicating with its employees by
electronic means, the notice must also be posted by such electronic

mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice to all current
employees and former employees employed by the Re-
spondent at any time since November 2019.78

(c) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with
the Regional Director for Region 28 a sworn certification
of a responsible official on a form provided by the Region
attesting to the steps that the Respondent has taken to com-
ply.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent NP Palace
LLC d/b/a Palace Station Hotel & Casino, Las Vegas, Ne-
vada, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

(a) Displaying campaign material during a representa-
tion election campaign containing employees’ images
without their consent and without a disclaimer stating that
the campaign material is not intended to reflect the views
of the employees appearing in it.

(b) In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to
effectuate the policies of the Act.

(a) To the extent it has not already done so, remove, or
request Station Casinos to remove, images of employees
that were posted on Station Casinos’ antiunion website be-
ginning in late November 2019 without the employees’
consent.

(b) Post at its Las Vegas, Nevada, facility copies of the
attached notice marked “Appendix D” in both English and
Spanish. Copies of the notice, on forms provided by the
Regional Director for Region 28, after being signed by the
Respondent’s authorized representative, shall be posted
by the Respondent and maintained for 60 consecutive days
in conspicuous places, including all places where notices
to employees are customarily posted. In addition to phys-
ical posting of paper notices, notices shall be distributed
electronically, such as by email, posting on an intranet or
an internet site, and/or other electronic means, if the Re-
spondent customarily communicates with its employees
by such means. Reasonable steps shall be taken by the
Respondent to ensure that the notices are not altered, de-
faced, or covered by any other material. If the Respondent
has gone out of business or closed the facility involved in
these proceedings, the Respondent shall duplicate and
mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice to all current

means within 14 days after service by the Region. If the notice to be
physically posted was posted electronically more than 60 days before
physical posting of the notice, the notice shall state at the bottom that
“This notice is the same notice previously [sent or posted] electronically
on [date].” If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States
court of appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the
National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judg-
ment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the
National Labor Relations Board.”
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employees and former employees employed by the Re-
spondent at any time since November 2019.”

(c) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with
the Regional Director for Region 28 a sworn certification
of a responsible official on a form provided by the Region
attesting to the steps that the Respondent has taken to com-
ply.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the election in Case 28—
RC-252280 is set aside.

Dated, Washington, D.C. June 17, 2024

Lauren McFerran, Chairman
David M. Prouty, Member
Gwynne A. Wilcox, Member

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
APPENDIX A

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED AND MAILED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we
violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post,
mail, and obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives to bargain with us on your
behalf

Act together with other employees for your bene-
fit and protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected ac-
tivities.

(SEAL)

WE WILL NOT coercively question you about your union
membership, activities, sympathies, and/or support for
Local Joint Executive Board of Las Vegas affiliated with
Unite Here International Union (the Union).

79 If the facility involved in this proceeding is open and staffed by a
substantial complement of employees, the notice must be posted within
14 days after service by the Region. If the facility involved in this pro-
ceeding is closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of employ-
ees due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, the no-
tice must be posted and read within 14 days after the facility reopens and
a substantial complement of employees have returned to work. If, while
closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of employees due to
the pandemic, the Respondent is communicating with its employees by
electronic means, the notice must also be posted by such electronic

WE WILL NOT promise, announce, or grant benefits to
you in order to discourage you from selecting union rep-
resentation.

WE WILL NOT threaten you with the loss, withholding,
or withdrawal of benefits if you select union representa-
tion.

WE WILL NOT threaten you with job loss as a result of a
strike if you select union representation.

WE WILL NOT threaten you with unspecified reprisals if
you select union representation.

WE WILL NOT threaten you that selecting a union repre-
sentative would be futile.

WE WILL NOT display campaign material during a rep-
resentation election containing photographs of you with-
out your consent and without a disclaimer stating that the
campaign material is not intended to reflect the views of
the employees appearing in it.

WE WILL NOT discipline you because of your support for
and activities on behalf of the Union.

WE WILL NOT discriminatorily assign you work because
of your support for and activities on behalf of the Union.

WE WILL NOT fail to recall or reinstate you from laid-off
status because of your support for and activities on behalf
of the Union.

WE WILL NOT fail and refuse to recognize and bargain
with the Union as the exclusive collective-bargaining rep-
resentative of our employees in the bargaining unit.

WE WILL NOT change your terms and conditions of em-
ployment without first notifying the Union and giving it
an opportunity to bargain.

WE WILL NOT in any other manner interfere with, re-
strain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights listed
above.

WE WILL, to the extent we have not already done so, re-
move, or request Station Casinos to remove, images of
employees that were posted on Station Casinos’ antiunion
website beginning in late November 2019 without the em-
ployees’ consent.

WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of the Board’s
Order, offer Teresa Powers full reinstatement to her for-
mer job, or, if that job no longer exists, to a substantially
equivalent position, without prejudice to her seniority or
any other rights or privileges previously enjoyed.

WE WILL make Teresa Powers whole for any loss of
earnings and other benefits resulting from our unlawful
failure to recall her from layoff, less any net interim earn-
ings, plus interest, and WE WILL also make her whole for

means within 14 days after service by the Region. If the notice to be
physically posted was posted electronically more than 60 days before
physical posting of the notice, the notice shall state at the bottom that
“This notice is the same notice previously [sent or posted] electronically
on [date].” If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States
court of appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the
National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judg-
ment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the
National Labor Relations Board.”
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any other direct or foreseeable pecuniary harms suffered
as a result of our unlawful failure to recall her, including
reasonable search-for-work and interim employment ex-
penses, plus interest.

WE WILL compensate Teresa Powers for the adverse tax
consequences, if any, of receiving a lump-sum backpay
award, and WE WILL file with the Regional Director for
Region 28, within 21 days of the date the amount of back-
pay is fixed, either by agreement or Board order, a report
allocating the backpay award to the appropriate calendar
year(s).

WE WILL file with the Regional Director for Region 28,
within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed
by agreement or Board order or such additional time as the
Regional Director may allow for good cause shown, a
copy of Teresa Powers’s corresponding W-2 form(s) re-
flecting the backpay award.

WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of the Board’s
order, remove from our files any reference to the unlawful
warnings issued to Claudia Montano, and WE WILL, within
3 days thereafter, notify her in writing that we have done
so and that we will not use the warnings against her in any
way.

WE WILL, on request, bargain with the Union as the ex-
clusive collective-bargaining representative of our em-
ployees in the following appropriate unit concerning terms
and conditions of employment, and, if an understanding is
reached, embody the understanding in a signed agreement:

All full-time and regular part-time assistant food servers,
bakers, banquet bartenders, banquet porters, banquets
setup, bar porters, bartenders, bell persons, bell starters,
beverage porters, beverage servers, beverage
(Race/Sports), banquet servers, bus persons/bussers,
cake decorators, captains, coffee breakers, concession
workers, cooks, cook’s helpers, counter attendants, ex-
terior ground porters, food servers, gourmet hostper-
son/cashiers, gourmet VIP attendants, host/cashiers,
housekeeping utility porters, ice cream concession
workers, interior ground porters, kitchen runners,
kitchen workers, lead banquet porters, lead counter at-
tendants, lead servers, mini bar attendants, pantry, por-
ters, resort guest room attendants, resort housepersons,
resort suite guest room attendants, resort steakhouse
cooks, room runners, room service captains, runners,
service bartenders, specialty cooks, servers, sprinters,
status board, stove persons, team member dining room
(TDR) attendants, utility porters, VIP attendants, VIP
bartenders, VIP hosts, and VIP lounge attendants em-
ployed by the employer at its facility located at 11011
West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada; ex-
cluding all other employees, front desk employees, valet
parkers, retail cashier/clerks, gaming employees (deal-
ers, slot attendants, cage cashiers), inspectresses, engi-
neering and maintenance employees, office clerical

employees, guards, managers, and supervisors as de-
fined by the Act.

WE WILL, before implementing any changes in wages,
hours, or other terms and conditions of employment of
unit employees, notify and, on request, bargain with the
Union as the exclusive collective-bargaining representa-
tive of our employees in the bargaining unit.

WE WILL rescind the changes in the terms and condi-
tions of employment for our unit employees that were uni-
laterally implemented on June 4, 2020.

WE WILL make employees whole for any loss of earn-
ings and benefits suffered as a result of our unlawful ter-
mination of table-swap agreements, with interest.

WE WILL compensate employees affected by our termi-
nation of the table-swap agreements for the adverse tax
consequences, if any, of receiving lump-sum backpay
awards, and WE WILL file with the Regional Director for
Region 28, within 21 days of the date the amount of back-
pay is fixed, either by agreement or Board order, a report
allocating the backpay awards to the appropriate calendar
year(s) for each employee.

WE WILL file with the Regional Director for Region 28,
within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed
by agreement or Board order or such additional time as the
Regional Director may allow for good cause shown, a
copy of each backpay recipient’s corresponding W-2
form(s) reflecting the backpay award.

NP RED Rock LLC D/B/A RED RocK CASINO
RESORT SPA

The Board’s decision can be found at
https://www.nlrb.gov/case/28-CA-244484 or by using the
QR code below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of
the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor
Relations Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C.
20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

APPENDIX B

EXPLANATION OF RIGHTS
POSTED AND MAILED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

Employees covered by the National Labor Relations
Act have the right to join together to improve their wages
and working conditions, including by organizing a union
and bargaining collectively with their employer, and also
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the right to choose not to do so. The Explanation of
Rights contains important information about your rights
under this Federal law. The National Labor Relations
Board has ordered Red Rock Casino Resort Spa to pro-
vide you with the Explanation of Rights to describe your
rights and to provide examples of illegal behavior.

Under the National Labor Relations Act, you have the
right to:

e  Organize a union to negotiate with your employer
concerning your wages, hours, and working condi-
tions.

e  Support your union in negotiations.

e Discuss your wages, benefits, other terms and con-
ditions of employment, and collective-bargaining
negotiations with your coworkers or your union.

e  Take action with one or more coworkers to improve
your working conditions.

e Strike and picket, depending on the purpose or
means used.

e Choose not to do any of these activities.

It is illegal for your employer to:

e Question you about your union sympathies or activ-
ities, or the sympathies or activities of other em-
ployees, in circumstances where that questioning
tends to interfere with, restrain, or coerce you in the
exercise of the rights listed above.

e  Promise or grant you benefits, such as a free retire-
ment plan, free health care, and free onsite clinics,
in order to discourage your support for the union or
for collective bargaining.

e  Threaten to withhold or withdraw benefits if you se-
lect union representation.

e  Threaten that selecting the union would be futile be-
cause your employer will not agree with the union
to improve your terms and conditions of employ-
ment.

e  Threaten you with job loss, loss of other benefits, or
other unspecified reprisals if you select union rep-
resentation.

e Include photographs of you in antiunion campaign
material without your consent and without a dis-
claimer stating that the campaign material is not in-
tended to reflect the views of employees appearing
init.

e Discipline you, discriminatorily assign you work,
or refuse to recall you from layoff because of your
support for or activities on behalf of the union.

e Discharge or otherwise discriminate against you
because you file charges or give testimony un-
der the National Labor Relations Act.

e Refuse to recognize and bargain with your un-
ion as your exclusive collective-bargaining rep-
resentative.

e  Change your terms and conditions of employ-
ment without first notifying your union and giv-
ing it an opportunity to bargain.

There are rules that govern your employer’s conduct
during collective bargaining with your union.

e  Your employer must meet with your union at rea-
sonable times to bargain in good faith about wages,
hours, vacation time, insurance and other benefits,
safety practices, and other mandatory subjects.

e  Your employer must participate actively in the ne-
gotiations with a sincere intent to reach an agree-
ment.

e  Your employer must not change existing working
terms and conditions while bargaining is ongoing.

e Your employer must honor any collective-bargain-
ing agreement that it reaches with your union.

e  Your employer cannot retaliate against you if you
participate or assist your union in collective bar-
gaining.

lllegal conduct will not be permitted. The National La-
bor Relations Board enforces the Act by prosecuting vio-
lations. If you believe your rights or the rights of others
have been violated, you should contact the NLRB
promptly to protect your rights, generally within 6 months
of the unlawful activity. You may ask about a possible
violation without your employer or anyone else being in-
formed that you have done so. The NLRB will conduct an
investigation of possible violations if a charge is filed.
Charges may be filed by any person and need not be filed
by the employee directly affected by the violation.

You can contact the NLRB’s resident office, located at
300 Las Vegas Boulevard South, Suite 2-901, Las Vegas,
Nevada 89101.

Or you can contact the NLRB by calling 702-388-6416.

For more information about your rights and about the
National Labor Relations Board and the National Labor

Relations  Act, visit the Agency’s website:
https://www.nlrb.gov.
The Board’s decision can be found at

https://www.nlrb.gov/case/28-CA-244484 or by using the
QR code below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of
the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor
Relations Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C.
20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.
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APPENDIX C

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we vio-
lated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey
this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives to bargain with us on your
behalf

Act together with other employees for your bene-
fit and protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected ac-
tivities.

WE WILL NOT display campaign material during a rep-
resentation election containing photographs of you with-
out your consent and without a disclaimer stating that the
campaign material is not intended to reflect the views of
the employees appearing in it.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere
with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights
listed above.

WE WILL, to the extent we have not already done so, re-
move, or request Station Casinos to remove, images of
employees that were posted on Station Casinos’ antiunion
website beginning in late November 2019 without the em-
ployees’ consent.

NP BOULDER LLC D/B/A BOULDER STATION
HOTEL & CASINO

The Board’s decision can be found at
https://www.nlrb.gov/case/28-CA-244484 or by using the
QR code below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of
the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor
Relations Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C.
20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

APPENDIX D

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we vio-
lated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey
this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives to bargain with us on your
behalf

Act together with other employees for your bene-
fit and protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected ac-
tivities.

WE WILL NOT display campaign material during a rep-
resentation election containing photographs of you with-
out your consent and without a disclaimer stating that the
campaign material is not intended to reflect the views of
the employees appearing in it.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere
with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights
listed above.

WE WILL, to the extent we have not already done so, re-
move, or request Station Casinos to remove, images of
employees that were posted on Station Casinos’ antiunion
website beginning in late November 2019 without the em-
ployees’ consent.

NP PALACE LLC D/B/A PALACE STATION HOTEL
& CASINO

The Board’s decision can be found at
https://www.nlrb.gov/case/28-CA-244484 or by using the
QR code below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of
the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor
Relations Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C.
20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

Sara Demirok, Esq., Kyler Scheid, Esq., and Carmen Leon, Esq.,
for the General Counsel.

Reyburn W. Lominack, IlI, Esq. and Michael Carrouth, Esq.
(Fisher Phillips, LLP), for the Respondent Employers.

Kimberley C. Weber, Esq. and (on brief only) Eric B. Myers, Esq.
(McCracken, Stemerman & Holsberry, LLP), for the Charg-
ing Party Union.

DECISION

JEFFREY D. WEDEKIND, Administrative Law Judge. In No-
vember 2019, the Local Joint Executive Board of Las Vegas
(aka “the Culinary Union”) filed a petition with the NLRB to
conduct a representation election at the Red Rock Casino Resort
Spa. At the time, the Union had received signed authorization
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cards from at least 60 percent of the 1343 unit employees within
the previous 12 months indicating that they wanted the Union to
represent them. However, when the election was held the fol-
lowing month, the Union received only 46 percent of the votes,
with the other 54 percent voting against union representation.

The present litigation followed. The Union filed numerous
election objections and unfair labor practice (ULP) charges with
the NLRB. And the Agency’s Regional Director, on behalf of
the General Counsel, subsequently issued a complaint on these
and several previous charges alleging that Red Rock’s supervi-
sors or agents at the casino and its corporate parent Station Casi-
nos committed approximately 50 violations of the National La-
bor Relations Act both before and after the union petition and the
election.! The complaint further alleges that many of these vio-
lations—in particular Red Rock’s preelection announcement that
the Company would give the employees three “huge” and “in-
credible” new healthcare and retirement benefits in the coming
year and subsequent warning that the employees risked losing
those benefits by voting for the Union—were so serious that they
rendered a fair rerun election impossible. The complaint there-
fore requests that, among other remedies, Red Rock be ordered
to recognize and bargain with the Union based on its preelection
card majority under NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575
(1969).

A hearing to litigate all of the alleged unfair labor practices
and related election objections was held over 58 days between
October 27, 2020 and June 16, 2021.2 A total of 77 witnesses
were called to testify—17 of them twice, initially by the General
Counsel as adverse witnesses and then again by Red Rock.> And
over 400 exhibits were introduced, including numerous emails,
text messages, and audio recordings. Thereafter, on September
15, each of the parties, the General Counsel, the Union, and Red
Rock, also filed lengthy posthearing briefs.

As discussed below, the record evidence supports all of the
Union’s postelection objections in whole or in part and most of
the General Counsel’s unfair labor practice allegations. The
election will therefore be set aside. In addition, Red Rock will

! As discussed infra, one of the allegations also involves two other
Station Casinos’ facilities, Boulder Station and Palace Station.

2 Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, by order dated October 1, 2020,
the hearing was held remotely via the Zoom for Government online plat-
form. Jurisdiction is undisputed and established by the record. Unless
otherwise indicated, Red Rock also does not dispute that any of the indi-
viduals who allegedly committed the objectionable and unlawful con-
duct—including those employed by Station Casinos LLC, and/or Red
Rock Resorts, Inc., the holding company that owns an indirect equity
interest in and manages Station Casinos—are its supervisors and/or
agents within the meaning of the Act.

3 At the request of the General Counsel, all witnesses except certain
designated representatives were sequestered (Tr. 18-20). An order cor-
recting errors in the hearing transcript has been added to the record as
ALJ Exh. 1.

4 Citations to the record are included to aid review and are not neces-
sarily exclusive or exhaustive. In making credibility findings, all rele-
vant factors have been considered, including the interests and demeanor
of the witnesses; whether their testimony is corroborated or consistent
with the documentary evidence and/or the established or admitted facts;
inherent probabilities; and reasonable inferences that may be drawn from
the record as a whole. Language and translation difficulties have also
been taken into account (several General Counsel witnesses testified
through a Spanish-language interpreter). See, e.g., Daikichi Corp., 335
NLRB 622, 623 (2001), enfd. 56 Fed.Appx. 516 (D.C. Cir. 2003); and
New Breed Leasing Corp. v. NLRB, 111 F.3d 1460, 1465 (9th Cir.), cert.
denied 522 U.S. 948 (1997).

be ordered to recognize and bargain with the Culinary Union
based on its preelection card majority and to take various other
appropriate actions to remedy its unlawful conduct.*

I. ALLEGED PREPETITION ULPS
A. Factual Background

It was mid-June 2019 and Station Casinos had a union prob-
lem. The Company owned and operated 10 casino hotels and
resorts in and around Las Vegas, and the Union had successfully
organized several thousand culinary and other nongaming em-
ployees at six of them over the previous 3 years, including two
that very week. Worse yet, despite the Company’s vigorous an-
tiunion campaigns at the properties, the Union had won all but
one of the six elections by large margins, garnering 67 to 85 per-
cent of the votes cast.’

Further, it was clear that the Union wasn’t done; that it in-
tended to continue organizing and to petition for elections at the
remaining four properties, including the Red Rock Casino Resort
Spa. The Red Rock opened in 2006 and was the newest and
largest of the 10 Station Casinos properties, with approximately
800 hotel rooms, 2700 slots, 64 gaming tables, 9 full-service res-
taurants, a 16-screen movie theatre, a 72-lane bowling alley, and
94,000 square feet of meeting and convention space. It also had
the largest number of Culinary employees, i.e., employees in de-
partments typically represented by the Culinary Union (food and
beverage, banquet/catering, bell, housekeeping, sanitation, and
internal maintenance ). It had over 1300 such employees, far
more than at each of the other facilities. And it was directly
across the street from the Station Casinos corporate headquar-
ters. Thus, it was frequented by the top corporate executives—
including Chairman and CEO Frank J. Fertitta III and Chief Op-
erating Officer Robert Finch—for meals or a Starbucks coffee.®

Finch and Jeffrey Welch, Station Casinos’ executive vice
president and chief legal officer, therefore took a number of steps
to prepare for such a petition.” First, Finch directed Red Rock’s
general manager, Scott Nelson, to provide him with a list of what

5 See Jt. Exh. 6; GC Exhs. 47, 48, and 116 (pp. 3, 21); and documents
related to the election petitions attached to the Union’s unopposed (and
hereby granted) Sept. 15,2021 posthearing request for administrative no-
tice. See also Tr. 124, 153-155, 555-556 (Nelson), 2060 (Johnson),
3032-3041, 3076, (Murzl); and R. Br. 3. The Union’s winning percent-
ages of the votes cast were as follows: Sept. 2-3, 2016 election at Boul-
der Station (67 percent), Nov. 8-9, 2017 election at Green Valley Ranch
(GVR) (79 percent), April 27-28, 2018 election at Palms (84 percent),
June 13, 2019 election at Sunset Station (83 percent), and June 14, 2019
election at Fiesta Rancho (85 percent). The Union narrowly lost one of
the elections, the Oct. 15-16, 2016 election at Palace Station (49.6 per-
cent). However, the Union filed postelection objections and unfair labor
practice charges and Palace Station subsequently settled the case and rec-
ognized the Union there in March 2017 (presumably based on the Un-
ion’s card majority).

¢ GC Exh. 116, p. 7; Jt. Exh. 6; Tr. 155-158, 6340—-6341 (Nelson),
1417-1418, 5981, 6050-6052 (Finch). Finch is a member of the Fertitta
family by marriage. He is COO of Red Rock Resorts, Inc., which as
noted above is the holding company that owns an indirect equity interest
in and manages Station Casinos. His office is also located at the Station
Casinos’ corporate headquarters. See GC Exh. 116 (FY 2019 10-K re-
port), p. 41; and Tr. 124 (Nelson), 1414, 6080 (Finch). The other three
Station Casinos properties that had not yet had a Culinary Union election
at that time were Fiesta Henderson, Santa Fe Station, and Texas Station.

7 See Tr. 7196-7198, 7206-7207, 7211, 7225-7226 (Welch).
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he and his team were doing about a potential union petition.®
Nelson had previous experience with a Culinary Union election
campaign, having served as GM at the Palace Station property
during the October 2016 election there (which, as noted above,
is the only election the Union failed to win by a large majority).’
Nelson emailed his response to Finch on Saturday, June 15, list-
ing various existing initiatives that were being implemented in
the current “pre-petition environment,” as well as additional
strategies he and the corporate HR team were working on for the
“post-petition/pre-election” period.

A week later, on June 22, following a meeting with the HR
team, Nelson also emailed Finch an updated version, which in-
cluded a longer and more-detailed list of post-petition/pre-elec-
tion strategies. The list included activating “Voices,” select
company managers who would be sent to the property to speak
to employees about unions and urge them to vote no; posting up-
dated “sound bytes,” antiunion messages prepared by the corpo-
rate HR team that had been used during previous campaigns and
urged employees to vote no; and holding mandatory

meetings with employees to communicate how little progress
had been made in union contract negotiations at the other prop-
erties and urge them to give Nelson a chance and vote no.!”

Second, Finch and Welch decided to replace and retire Station
Casinos’ longtime senior/vice president of HR, Valerie Murzl,
who was responsible for and had directed the Company’s re-
sponse to the union organizing and election campaigns at the fa-
cilities. In or about early July, Finch therefore contacted and
scheduled an interview with Phil Fortino, who held a similar po-
sition with Eldorado Resorts in Reno and had previously worked
with Nelson at another company. Nelson had recommended
Fortino to Finch’s predecessor in 2018, and he was subsequently
interviewed by Fertitta and Welch in July 2018, a few months
after the Union’s third overwhelming election victory. Nelson
also again recommended Fortino to Finch shortly after Finch be-
came COO in February 2019. Welch suggested that Fortino be

8 There is no evidence Finch issued a similar direction at that time to
any of the GMs at the other three properties that had not yet received a
union election petition.

° See fn. 5, above, and Tr. 125, 151-152, 590-593 (Nelson). Nelson
personally participated in the Company’s antiunion election campaign at
Palace Station by conducting preelection captive audience meetings with
the employees. And his statements at those meetings were among the
unlawful and objectionable preelection actions the Union charged and
the Company settled after the election by agreeing to recognize the Un-
ion.

10 GC Exhs. 109, 110; Tr. 3032-3034, 3041, 3045-3046 (Murzl),
6344-49, 6376-6387, 6411 (Nelson). Finch testified that he did not re-
member or know anything about Nelson’s emails to him. Indeed, even
after being shown the emails by the General Counsel, Finch testified that
he didn’t know whether they related to the union campaign or what Nel-
son was referring to. Tr. 1419-1431. As indicated in the GC’s posthear-
ing brief (p. 13), Finch’s testimony in this respect was obviously incred-
ible and served to undermine his credibility generally.

' Tr. 129-131, 503, 505-508, 6358—6364 (Nelson), 763-764, 897—
901, 6985-6987, 6991-6993, 7170 (Fortino), 1442-1443, 5980, 5983—
5987 (Finch), 7195, 7198-7199, 7206 (Welch). To the extent the record
includes testimony contrary to or inconsistent with these findings, it is
discredited. For example, Finch testified that he was unhappy with
Murzl because she “was not being responsive to the properties in the op-
erations piece of things that I wanted to accomplish” (Tr. 1437-39), in
particular his desire to conduct training at the individual properties rather
than at the Station Casinos headquarters (Tr. 1446, 5990-5993). And
Welch and Stephen Cootey, the Company’s chief financial officer, testi-
fied that Murzl failed to communicate with them or seek their input about

interviewed again as well. Finch and Welch subsequently met
with Fortino on July 6 and discussed the ongoing union cam-
paign and their desire to change the Company’s campaign play-
book or strategy. Welch officially offered Fortino the position
shortly after and began negotiating his employment contract.!!

Third, Welch decided to also replace the law firm that had de-
veloped the Company’s campaign playbook with Murzl. Welch
selected the law firm Fortino recommended during his 2019 in-
terview, which he had consulted at Eldorado regarding union
avoidance and decertification strategies.'?

In the meantime, at Nelson’s request, on June 21 the Station
Casinos director of labor relations, Jennifer Johnson, emailed
him and Red Rock’s HR director, Mari Jackson, two batches of
new/updated “vote no” sound bytes for possible use when the
Union filed a petition at the facility. The following week, on
July 1, Johnson also emailed Jackson a batch of pre-petition
sound bytes, which contained similar antiunion messages to dis-
courage employees from otherwise supporting the Union or sign-
ing authorization cards. Jackson sent several of these pre-peti-
tion sound bytes to her communications specialist the same day
and instructed her to start running them on the Red Rock’s back-
of-the-house TV “asap” in both English and Spanish.'?

As it turned out, on July 25 the Union filed its next (seventh)
election petition at one of the other Station Casinos facilities, the
Fiesta Henderson Casino Hotel. By that time the new legal team
had been hired, but not Fortino, who would not start until Sep-
tember 9. As for Murzl, she was still unaware that Station Casi-
nos intended to replace and retire her (indeed, she would not be
told until Fortino arrived). And she normally would have moved
into the Fiesta Henderson at that time to personally conduct and
direct the Company’s antiunion campaign there. But Finch side-
lined her, saying the new legal team would spearhead the cam-
paign instead.'

Finch, Welch, and the new legal team thereafter went to the
Fiesta Henderson to meet with and prepare the managers and

employee benefits, and poorly implemented a new HCM (human capital
management) system in 2019. (Tr. 7194-7197, 7206 (Welch), 6445,
6449, 6457-6460, 6522-6524, 6551-6553 (Cootey).) However, as
noted above, Finch was not a credible or reliable witness generally. And
to the extent his testimony suggested that Murzl was replaced and retired
after 20-plus years solely or primarily because of a disagreement about
where and how to conduct employee training, it is contrary to the weight
of the evidence and the record as a whole. As for Welch’s and Cootey’s
testimony regarding the employee-benefits process under Murzl, it was
contradicted by the Company’s director of benefits, Paula Tilley. Tilley
testified that Murzl kept Welch and Cootey in the loop, provided them
with information, and invited them to quarterly meetings (Tr. 6927—
6931, 6934). Finally, Welch acknowledged that he began seriously con-
sidering replacing Murzl in 2018, before the new HCM system was im-
plemented; that the prior union election wins were the primary reason;
and that the only reason Fortino was not hired to replace her following
his July 2018 interview was because the focus shifted to splitting up and
selling most of the Company to one or more prospective buyers (Tr.
7201-7202, 72067207, 7221-7222).

12 Tr. 1339, 6956, 6991-6992, 7151, 7170-7171 (Fortino), 7195—
7197, 7211 (Welch).

13 GC Exhs. 8, 163, 164; Tr. 1897 (Jackson), 6112-6113 (Johnson),
6351 (Nelson). Johnson testified that she sent the antiunion sound bytes
to all of the properties that had not yet had a union election, not just the
Red Rock (Tr. 6131-6132). However, her June 21 email was addressed
only to Nelson and Jackson at the Red Rock. And Respondent never
introduced any similar emails from Johnson to any of the other properties
during that time.

4 Tr. 1451-1452 (Finch), 3037-3039 (Murzl).
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supervisors for the election campaign. They told the managers
and supervisors to disregard what Murzl had previously taught
them; that the Company had a new playbook for the campaign
and that all of them, not just select company “voices,” were al-
lowed and expected to engage with and respond to questions by
employees about the Union and the upcoming election. Finch,
who had previously worked as a general manager at Fiesta Hen-
derson, also met directly with the employees to address the Un-
ion’s election petition. As did Nelson, who was likewise a for-
mer general manager at the facility. However, none of these ef-
forts ultimately changed the result. The Union still won the Sep-
tember 13 election there by a comfortable 57 percent of the votes
cast.!®

In the meantime, it became increasingly likely to Murzl and
other Station Casinos managers that the Red Rock would also be
getting a union election petition in the near future.'® As at other
Station Casinos properties, the Union had been conducting an
open organizing campaign at the Red Rock for many years.!”
And by mid-August, Murzl concluded that the Union was now
sure to win an election there. Specifically, she concluded that
the housekeeping, kitchen, sanitation, and internal maintenance
employees were all close to 100 percent for the Union; that nu-
merous banquet employees who also worked at unionized facil-
ities on the Strip would likewise vote for the Union; that about
half the bells would do so as well; and that the Union would
therefore win even if the restaurant and beverage employees
voted no. Murzl shared this “gloomy” assessment with Nelson
and Jackson both in person and by email on August 16. And
Nelson, in turn, privately shared Murzl’s assessment with
Fortino.®

The Union apparently believed it would win at the Red Rock
as well. Just a week later, on August 22, the Union began “but-
toning up” the property—having its committee leaders there

15 Jt. Exh. 6; GC Exh. 49; Tr. 126, 509-511, 6280—-6281 (Nelson);
5987-89, 6050 (Finch). Fiesta Henderson filed objections to the elec-
tion. However, the Regional Director overruled them and certified the
Union as representative on Nov. 19, 2020, and the Board subsequently
denied Fiesta Henderson’s request for review by unpublished order dated
Feb. 12,2021 (2021 WL 1815077).

16 Tr. 3046-3048, 3083 (Murzl), 20642065 (Johnson).

17 Tr. 1648-1649 (Hernandez), 4598-4599 (Herrera), 4653, 4711,
4716, (Washington), 5998-6000 (Finch), 6340-6344 (Nelson). Employ-
ees who served as union committee leaders at the properties wore red and
white committee leader buttons on their uniforms. Tr. 1904-1906 (Jack-
son), 2067 (Johnson), 2776 (Gonzalez), 3051-3052, 3084 (Murzl), 3427,
3433, 3471, 3475, 3487 (Gomez).

8 GC Exh. 9; Tr. 129-131, 503-508, 1899 (Jackson), 752-758, 763—
764 (Fortino), 3046-3048, 3051, 3083-3085 (Murzl), 195-196, 6372
(Nelson). Nelson spoke with Fortino regularly and, unlike Murzl, was
aware around that time that Fortino would soon replace her. Tr. 211-212,
507.

19 GC Exhs. 283, 290, 293; Tr. 3495-3496 (Gomez); Tr. 3908-3909,
4086 (Montano), 44464450, 4465-4469, 4501-4502, 45054508
(Christian), 4656-4670, 4698, 4715, 4723-4726, 4730-4731, 4765—
4769 (Washington). See also Tr. 3085-3086 (Murzl), and 6341, 6399—
6400 (Nelson).

20 GC Exh. 165; Tr. 6841-6842 (Hernandez). The General Counsel’s
posthearing brief (p. 15 fn. 12) requests an adverse inference against Red
Rock because Jackson admitted during her testimony on December 16,
2020 that she deleted Hernandez’s text from her personal phone (which
she used for work as well) sometime in November, after the hearing
opened, notwithstanding that the GC’s October 9 subpoena duces tecum
required Red Rock to produce any such text messages at the hearing. See
GC Exh. 35(a), par. 17; and Tr. 906-908, 1912-1923, 2045. I agree with
the GC that the matter is troubling. Although Jackson testified that she

distribute small brown prounion buttons for its supporters to
wear on their uniforms—a strategy it had used at the other Sta-
tion Casinos facilities to build excitement before filing an elec-
tion petition.!”” And it got management’s attention. The very
next day, Erika Hernandez, the Red Rock’s team member rela-
tions manager, texted Jackson that she “just saw” two employees
in housekeeping and the team member dining room wearing the
brown buttons.? Both Jackson and Nelson also subsequently re-
ported seeing employees wearing the brown buttons to Murzl 2!
And so many employees donned them over the next few weeks
that even Finch and Station Casinos’ vice president of commu-
nications, Michael Britt, texted each other about it on September
14:

Britt: Lots of union buttons.

Finch: They have been popping up more every day at
[Red Rock].

Britt: Looked like almost half the ballroom [ban-
quet/catering] staff.

Finch: They are always the leaders. They work on
the [S]trip properties.

Britt: That makes sense. Are you seeing it on the ho-
tel side?

Finch: Yes. Bells.??

A couple days later, on September 18, Fortino and Nelson—
who both report to Finch?>—met for an hour in the early morning
with the legal team to discuss the union situation at the Red
Rock*  Later the same day, they also held a “union

rarely texts, routinely deletes old texts, and didn’t remember receiving
Hernandez’s text, Hernandez testified that she also spoke with Jackson
after sending the text, and that Jackson acknowledged seeing the text and
confirmed that the brown buttons were Culinary Union buttons. Further,
Red Rock was on notice well before November that it was required to
ensure that its managers, supervisors, and agents took steps to preserve
any such evidence. Thus, Jackson’s deletion of Hernandez’s text was, at
the very least, grossly negligent. See, e.g., Zubulake v. UBS Warburg
LLC, 220 F.R.D. 212,221 (S.D. N.Y. 2003), which the Board recently
cited with approval in National Assn. of Broadcast Employees and Tech-
nicians, 371 NLRB No. 15, slip op. at 5 (2021). However, the text was
preserved on Hernandez’s phone, produced by Red Rock, and used by
the GC in examining Jackson. The GC’s brief does not specify how the
government’s case was prejudiced or what the adverse inference should
be in these circumstances. Nor does it address the requirements set forth
in FRCP 37(e) for issuing sanctions against a party for failing to preserve
such electronically stored information. The request is therefore denied.

21 Tr. 3086 (Murzl).

22 GC Exh. 113. See also Tr. 6003 (“the ballroom staff” referred to
the banquet/catering staff, who typically work events in the resort’s ball-
rooms). Finch initially testified that he didn’t remember seeing a lot of
union buttons in September. And while he subsequently admitted (after
the General Counsel showed him the September text messages with
Britt) that he noticed more buttons, he testified that the increase didn’t
mean anything to him. (Tr. 1455-61, 6002, 6052.) Again, I discredit
this testimony, both because it is contrary to the record as a whole and
because of Finch’s poor credibility generally.

23 Tr. 503 (Nelson), 745 (Fortino), 1412, 1416 (Finch). For the same
reasons noted above, I discredit Finch’s testimony that he never spoke to
Fortino or Nelson about the increase in union buttons (Tr. 6003-04).

24 See GC Exhs. 24 and 50, Nelson’s and Fortino’s calendars for that
week, which indicate that they were scheduled to meet at 8:30 am that
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avoidance”/“right to manage strategy” meeting, which had been
scheduled the previous week, with Red Rock managers and su-
pervisors who supervised Culinary employees.”> Using prepared
slides, Fortino explained the reasons why the Company opposed
unions and told the managers and supervisors to use their “Right
To Free Speech!” and share those and other reasons not to sup-
port unions with the employees. He also directed them to imme-
diately (“NOW”) prepare so-called “MUD lists” indicating
which employees under them were pro-management (M), pro-
union (U), or don’t know (D).2¢

B. The Alleged ULPs

1. Nelson’s and Fortino’s statements at employee Meetings
(Sept. 19 & 20)

Over the following two days, Nelson and Fortino also held
mandatory meetings with the Culinary employees at the Red
Rock . The meetings were relatively short, lasting only about 20
minutes, and several were held each day to ensure that as many
of the employees attended as possible.?’

morning for a “RR Union discussion.” At the hearing, both Nelson and
Fortino initially denied, on direct examination by the General Counsel
early in the hearing, any recollection of this morning meeting, what it
was about, or who attended, even after being shown the calendar entry
(Tr. 315-317, 793-795). Indeed, Fortino testified that there were no
meetings whatsoever about the union campaign at Red Rock during that
time period, either with management personnel or employees, insisting
that there wasn’t even a union organizing campaign at the Red Rock dur-
ing that time (Tr. 789-790). However, their memory improved some-
what when Respondent recalled them 6-7 months later. At that time,
they both admitted that the meeting occurred, that the legal team was also
present, and that it was related, at least generally, to the Union. See Nel-
son’s testimony, Tr. 6365—66 (meeting was held to prepare for the pre-
viously scheduled meetings with the Red Rock managers and supervisors
that afternoon and with Red Rock employees the following day), and
Fortino’s testimony, Tr. 7042 (meeting was a “general” union discussion
about “the entire enterprise”). Based on the record as a whole, I find that
the morning meeting was scheduled and held for the same reason the
later meetings with Red Rock Culinary managers and supervisors and
Culinary employees were held: in anticipation that the Culinary Union
would soon be filing an election petition at the Red Rock. See the dis-
cussion of those meetings, infra. And I discredit Fortino’s and Nelson’s
testimony to the extent it indicates otherwise.

25 GC Exhs. 10, 50, 129; Tr. 215-219, 330-333 (Nelson), 796-797,
800-804, 819 (Fortino), 1658—60 (Hernandez). This was the first and
only meeting Fortino and Nelson held with Red Rock managers and su-
pervisors around that time. Tr. 498—499 (Nelson). And there is no sub-
stantial credible evidence that Fortino held similar meetings at that time
with supervisors and managers at the other two properties that had not
yet received a union petition, Texas Station and Santa Fe Station. Alt-
hough Finch testified on direct examination by the General Counsel that
Fortino held similar meetings at all the properties, and that he attended
some of them, he could not remember if he attended the one at the Red
Rock or identify which ones or where he did attend (Tr. 1463-67). As
for Fortino himself, he initially testified on direct examination by the GC
that he planned to hold similar meetings with managers and supervisors
at every property, but he could not recall if he ever did, or even one prop-
erty other than the Red Rock where he held such a meeting (Tr. 785-789,
1351-52). His memory seemed to improve when Red Rock recalled him
seven months later, near the end of the hearing, and showed him emails
he sent to the HR directors at Texas Station and Santa Fe Station on Oc-
tober 4 and 14, respectively, which attached slightly modified versions
of the slides (R. Exhs. 90, 91). Fortino testified that he personally pre-
sented the modified slides at both properties right after he sent the emails
(Tr. 7018-21). (He also testified, contrary to Finch’s prior testimony,
that he did not make the presentation at any other properties except Texas
and Santa Fe Stations. Tr. 7031.) However, Fortino’s belated testimony

Each of the meetings was conducted in essentially the same
manner. Nelson began the meetings by explaining why they
were being held. For example, at a meeting on September 19
(which was recorded by an employee), he told the employees that
the meetings were being held to “give a quick introduction to
somebody that’s joined the Station’s family” and to “kind of talk
about what’s going on and what we’re hearing . . . about some of
the stuff I'm hearing that potentially is going on.” He said,
“[T]here’s no beating around the bush, there’s a lot of union con-
versations going on,” and he wanted to make sure they “had all
the facts” before making a decision that could “truly affect or
impact our livelihood.” Similarly, at a meeting on September 20
(which was likewise recorded by an employee), he told the em-
ployees he had brought them together because “there’s a lot of
activity going on . . . a lot of Union conversation going on, not
just at this property, but at other properties as well,” and he
wanted to “share some facts” with them.

Nelson then spoke about the first two union elections that were
held at Station Casinos properties in 2016 (Boulder Station and

that he presented the slides there was not corroborated by Fortino’s cal-
endars (which Respondent never introduced), the emails themselves
(which said nothing but “Updated”), or any other evidence. Nor was it
specifically corroborated by Finch when he was likewise recalled by Re-
spondent (he was asked no further questions about the matter). Thus, I
give no weight to either Finch’s or Fortino’s testimony. See also fn. 26,
below.

26 See R. Exh. 89 (the PowerPoint presentation); and Tr. 7118-19
(Fortino). See also Nelson’s testimony, Tr. 488-489, 492-493. (To the
extent Nelson’s other testimony conflicts with the above findings, it is
discredited as contrary to the weight of the evidence.) As noted above,
on October 4 and 14, Fortino emailed a modified version of the Power-
Point presentation to the HR directors at Texas Station and Santa Fe Sta-
tion, which also had not yet received an election petition. Among other
things, unlike the Red Rock version, the modified version did not say
managers and supervisors should “prepare a MUD list NOW?”; rather, it
simply stated that they should “work with [their] team to develop a MUD
list.” R. Exh. 90, p. 26 of 46. When asked by the General Counsel on
cross-examination why this change was made, Fortino said it was be-
cause he had already told the HR directors in mid-September to put to-
gether MUD lists. He also subsequently added (after the GC pointed out
that the managers and supervisors, not the HR directors, put together the
MUD lists), that he had also asked all the general managers to “think
about it” very shortly after he arrived, and that it was also “already dis-
cussed” with the supervisors (Tr. 7119-20). However, none of this tes-
timony was ever corroborated. Moreover, on further examination,
Fortino acknowledged that he wasn’t sure why he made the change; that
his explanation was just “probably” the reason (Tr. 7121). Accordingly,
I discredit Fortino’s proffered explanation and find that the reason was
instead the most obvious one: that the Red Rock version said “NOW”
because the Company expected a union election petition to be filed there
in the near future, whereas the Company did not have the same expecta-
tion at Texas Station and Santa Fe Station.

27 GC Exhs. 24, 50, 166, 167; Tr. 221-222, 235 (Nelson). The meet-
ings were held only at the Red Rock and not at any other facility and only
Culinary employees were invited and required to attend the meetings.
GC Exh. 12; Tr. 610 (Nelson), 793, 803, 834-835, 878, 1350 (Fortino).
When asked why he and Nelson held the meetings at the Red Rock, and
why only Culinary employees were invited, Fortino testified that he
didn’t know or recall because he didn’t set up the meetings (Tr. 1350—
51). However, Nelson testified that he, Fortino, and Finch collectively
put together the meetings (Tr. 236). Further, the record as a whole indi-
cates that the meetings were clearly held for the same reason the “union
avoidance”/“right to manage strategy” meeting was held with Culinary
managers and supervisors at that time: because the Company anticipated
that the Culinary Union would soon be filing an election petition there.
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Palace Station), and how little the employees there had achieved
since. For example, at the recorded meeting on September 19,
he told the employees that the negotiations there “have been go-
ing on for 3 1/2 years, and to this day . . . there is no contract
... Three and a half years into negotiations, and they’re still
divided . . . 3 1/2 years later, [the employees] still hadn’t gotten
what they were promised” by the Union. He said, “Legally the
Union can promise you anything.” But,

[i]t doesn’t mean you’re going to get it. At the end of the day,
you might get more. You might get the same. You might get
less. On this particular instance 3 1/2 years into it they got noth-
ing...

Similarly, at the recorded meeting on September 20, he told the
employees that Boulder and Palace were “on 3 1/2 years and in
3 1/2 years, there’s no contract. There still isn’t a contract.” He
said there had been 100-150 articles exchanged back and forth,
but “They’ve agreed upon four things, 3 1/2 years later. . . [TThe
team members . . . don’t have any of the things that have been
promised to them . . . 3 1/2 years later.” He told the employees
to “educate yourself” and “remember, here we are, 3 1/2 years
later.”

Nelson then introduced Fortino, the “new senior vice presi-
dent of human resources.” He told the employees at the recorded
meeting on September 19 that Fortino would talk to them about
“some change, change that is taking place right now.” Similarly,
at the recorded meeting on September 20, he said Fortino would
discuss with the employees “something more positive
... some great stuff that he’s going to stand up here and
tell you about.”

Fortino told the employees that he would be looking to im-
prove everything Station Casinos was doing. Specifically, at the
recorded meeting on September 19, he told the employees he was
“kind of a change guy” and that his “role” at Station Casinos was
to “take a look at everything” it was doing and “then make rec-
ommendations to make things better.” He told them that at Eldo-
rado, where he came from, the company “built a medical center,
a full-time medical center for our team members only, [and] [i]t
was a big success.” He said,

That’s something that we have to look at. Maybe that’s some-
thing we look at. Maybe that’s something we look at I don’t
know. There’s no promises because we can’t do that. We can
never make a promise and we never will. I can promise you
one thing, we’re going to look at everything we’re doing.
We’re going to be looking at how we compensate team mem-
bers. We’re going to be looking at our benefit plans. We’re
going to look at everything.

Similarly, at the recorded meeting on September 20, Fortino told
the employees that he was here to help to make changes. I am
here to help. Will I make things better? I don’t know, but you
guys will have to decide in time, right? But the things I want to
look at are our compensation program, I’m going to take a hard
look at benefits programs, et cetera et cetera. I’'m going to take
a hard look at our employee programs. I will tell you this, my
philosophy is, if we’re not having fun, we shouldn’t be doing it.

28 GC Exhs. 51(a) and (b); and 52(a) and (b). See also Tr. 221-222
(Nelson); and 3436-39 (Gomez).

29 Station Casinos was a party to and participant in the contact nego-
tiations at both properties. See GC Exh. 116, at p. 18; and Tr. 2057
(Johnson). Thus, if the employees were to achieve anything through col-
lective bargaining at those properties, the Company would have had to

... So my role now and in the future is to continue this idea of
family and fun. Doing that, we have to look at everything we’re
doing, A to Z, I mean everything, and that’s what I’'m going to
do.

Fortino then closed by asking the employees to have patience.
Specifically, on September 19, he said,

Please have patience with us. Please take a look at the history.
All companies go through a difficult time. Anybody who was
here in 2007, and I was in Vegas in 2007, economy went crap.
Every company had to adjust. We are coming out of that fairly
strongly now. It’s timeto catch up. That’s our goal, right. You
good with that?

Similarly, on September 20, he said,

I hope you have a little patience . . . I came here to help move
the needle a little bit and I hope I can do (indiscernible) . . .
Nothing’s not on the table to look at. Is that fair? Have a little
patience with me. . . . Stay with us, alright??8

The General Counsel alleges that, by the foregoing state-
ments, Nelson gave the impression that it would be futile for the
Red Rock employees to support the Union and Fortino promised
them benefits if they did not support the Union, in violation of
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act (GC Exh. 1(bk), pars. 5(b)—(e), 8).

The allegations are well supported. As indicated above, alt-
hough Nelson told the employees he was going to give them “the
facts,” he actually gave them only one: that 3-1/2 years after the
union elections at Boulder and Palace Stations the employees
had achieved nothing in collective-bargaining negotiations with
the Company.?® And he repeated this single fact several times.
Cf. Overnite Transportation Co., 329 NLRB 990, 992 (1999),
enfd. in relevant part 280 F.3d 417, 430 (4th Cir. 2002) (en banc)
(employer’s repeated references to one of its facilities where the
union had failed to get a contract despite 13 years of bargaining
and a lengthy strike unlawfully gave employees the impression
that supporting the union would be futile).

Respondent argues that, by doing so, Nelson just “truthfully
informed employees about existing facts” to convey “the reali-
ties of good-faith bargaining” (Br. 174). However, Nelson never
said anything about “good faith” bargaining at the meetings. And
he certainly didn’t say anything to assure employees that the
Company had negotiated in good faith at Boulder and Palace, or
that it would negotiate in good faith at the Red Rock if the em-
ployees voted for the Union. Although he stated at the recorded
meeting on September 19 that employees generally could get
more, the same, or less with a union—a statement the Board has
held can save what might otherwise be a threat of futility’® —he
then immediately again repeated that the Company’s employees
at Boulder and Palace had got nothing from the Union. Further,
he did not include any such statement in his remarks during the
recorded meeting on September 20. Cf. AutoNation, Inc. v.
NLRB, 801 F.3d 767, 771-772 (7th Cir. 2015) (affirming the
Board’s finding that the company’s vice president threatened fu-
tility because, although he told employees that the bargaining
process would eventually begin if they were to unionize, “he
promptly threw cold water on that thought” by saying the

agree to it. See Equatorial Marine Fuel Mgt. Services PTE Ltd. v. MISC
Berhad, 591 F.3d 1208, 1211 (9th Cir. 2010) (“[C]ontracting, like danc-
ing the tango, takes two”).

30 See, e.g., Standard Products Co., 281 NLRB 141, 162-163 (1986).
But not always. See, e.g., Centre Engineering, Inc., 253 NLRB 419, 423
(1980).
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bargaining process is never automatic and they may never see
any better benefits, citing as an example—"the only example he
offered”—that no negotiations had been held with a unionized
group of the company’s employees at another facility for almost
3 years).

Moreover, Nelson did not emphasize his negative Boulder and
Palace example solely through repetition. He also contrasted it
with the “changes” and “more positive” and “great stuff”” Fortino
would tell them could happen without the Union. Cf. Airtex,
Inc., 308 NLRB 1135 fn. 2 (1992) (employer’s statement to em-
ployee that it only needed to negotiate with the Union, not sign
a contract, and negotiations could last a year constituted a threat
of futility in context of employer’s other statements, including
that “things could be better” if the employee did not support the
union).

As for Fortino, he delivered as Nelson advertised, painting a
very different and positive picture of the employees’ future with-
out the Union. Although he stated that he couldn’t make prom-
ises at the recorded meeting on September 19, and that he didn’t
know for sure if he would make things better at the recorded
meeting on September 20, everything else he said indicated or
implied he was promising to do just that, particularly with re-
spect to healthcare and other benefits (which as discussed infra
he subsequently did). Cf. California Gas Transport, Inc., 347
NLRB 1314, 1318 (2006) (manager’s statements impliedly
promised to grant employees the same wage increase granted at
other locations if they rejected the union, notwithstanding that he
told them he could not make promises regarding their wages and
benefits), enfd. 507 F.3d 847 (5th Cir. 2007). See also Wake
Electric Membership Corp., 338 NLRB 298, 306-307 (2002)
(manager's statement that he was not making any promises “was
mere verbiage, in light of his request that the employees give the
[c]Jompany ‘another chance,” and averment that the [c]ompany
would ‘work with’ the employees” on their grievances); Noah's
New York Bagels, Inc., 324 NLRB 266, 270-271 (1997) (em-
ployer’s president unlawfully made implied promises to a pro-
union employee by asking what her problems were with the com-
pany and saying he would think about them and do his best to try
and solve them, notwithstanding that he also said he couldn't
make any promises); and Raley’s, Inc., 236 NLRB 971, 972
(1978) (employer’s “oft-repeated stock phrase of ‘no promises’

31 See Phillips 66,369 NLRB No. 13, slip op. at 3 (2020) (finding no
violation where the incoming site manager told employees during a
preelection meeting that he looked forward to “working with” them “to
repair their relationship with management” and that he would “work to-
ward mending fences with them” if they voted against the union); and
Hyatt Regency Memphis, 296 NLRB 259, 269 (1989) (finding no viola-
tion where the new general manager told employees at a preelection
meeting that the company wanted “the opportunity to continue to pro-
gress” with respect to “all [employee] personnel practices and policies,”
and asked for “a chance to work with” them). But compare Valerie
Manor, Inc., 351 NLRB 1306, 1315-1316 (2007) (employer’s pleas at
preelection meetings that the employees give the new administrator and
other managers a chance to “work with” them “to resolve our issues and
concerns” constituted an unlawful implied promise of benefits), and
cases cited there.

32 See Mid Island Textile Industries, 214 NLRB 484, 489 (1974) (find-
ing no violation where the owner of the new company told employees
during the union organizing campaign that he could not make any prom-
ises but he might be able to give them fringe benefits depending on how
well the company did in the future).

33 See also Fortino’s remarks about the September meetings at a later
preelection captive audience meeting with Red Rock Culinary

was a mere formality, serving only as an all-too-transparent gloss
on what is otherwise a clearly implied promise of benefit”), enfd.
mem. 608 F.2d 1374 (9th Cir. 1979), cert. denied 449 U.S. 871
(1980).

Red Rock argues that Fortino’s remarks should nevertheless
be found lawful because he had just started as the “new senior
HR leader” and it was “reasonable and unsurprising” that he
would talk about what he planned to do in that position (Br. 111).
However, as indicated above, these were not general introduc-
tory meetings for Fortino to explain his goals and expectations
to all employees as the new senior HR leader at Station Casinos.
Rather, they were meetings specifically to discourage Red Rock
employees in Culinary Union-type positions from supporting the
Union’s anticipated petition for an election at the facility. This
is clear, not only because the meetings were held on the heels of
the Union’s “button-up” campaign at the Red Rock, but also be-
cause Nelson told the employees the meetings were being held
to address the increase in union activity; because only Red Rock
employees in positions typically represented by the Culinary Un-
ion were invited to attend the meetings; and because no similar
meetings were held at any of the other nine Station Casinos prop-
erties, either to introduce Fortino or to discuss his plans (see fn.
27, supra).

Further, unlike in the cases cited by Red Rock, Fortino did not
merely ask for a chance to work with the employees to improve
the labor-management relationship without reference to any gen-
eral or specific improvements.?! Nor did Nelson or Fortino in-
dicate that any improvements would be contingent on factors
other than the outcome of the election.?®> Rather, as discussed
above, Nelson told the employees that Fortino would tell them
about “some change . . . taking place right now,” “something
more positive,” and “some great stuff.” And Fortino “prom-
ise[d]” the employees that he would “take a hard look” at “eve-
rything,”—including specifically the employees’ “compensa-
tion” and “benefit plans” and building them a “medical center”™—
and asked for their “patience” to give the Company a chance to
“catch up” and “move the needle” now that it was “coming out”
“fairly strongly” from the recession.>?

In sum, their few cautious or equivocal statements notwith-
standing, the overall message Nelson and Fortino conveyed to
the employees at the September 19 and 20 meetings—and the

employees, discussed at fn. 172, infra. Fortino’s suggestion that the
Company was only “now” “coming out” of the recession actually ap-
pears to have been a mischaracterization and understatement of the Com-
pany’s financial history and position. The record confirms that the Com-
pany went into Chapter 11 bankruptcy soon after the 2008 recession and
rescinded or reduced many of its employee benefits and programs over
the following two years. However, it emerged from bankruptcy in 2011.
Further, according to the December 31,2018 SEC Form 10-K report filed
by Red Rock Resorts, Inc., the economy and Station Casinos’ properties
in Las Vegas began coming out of the recession fairly strongly in or
about 2013 or 2014. And it continued to perform well thereafter. Indeed,
the Company went public, from which it received over $500 million in
additional net proceeds, in mid-2016. GC Exhs. 4, 117; Tr. 3042, 3069—
71, 3086 (Murzl), 6440 (Cootey), 6722, 6727-6728, 6935-6936, 6946
(Tilley), 7181-7184 (Welch). In short, the record evidence does not sup-
port Fortino’s suggestion at the meetings that the timing of his promise
to look at improving everything was due to the Company’s recent recov-
ery from the recession (and Red Rock does not contend otherwise). Nev-
ertheless, even as understated, Fortino’s description of the Company’s
current economic health clearly implied that the money was in fact there
to “catch up” and improve the employees’ compensation and benefits
from where they had been since the recession.
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message the employees would reasonably have taken from their
remarks®*—is that they would see improvements in nothing with
the Union and everything without the Union. Accordingly, their
remarks at those meetings violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act as
alleged.

2. Supervisor Cheney’s statements to employee
Gomez (Sept. 21)

Luz Gomez, a pantry worker in the Red Rock catering/ban-
quets department, attended one of the mandatory meetings Nel-
son and Fortino conducted on September 20. The following day,
as she was walking by the supervisors’ office at the end of her
shift, she saw banquets Assistant Executive Chef Brendon
Cheney and Room Chef Danielle Tydingco and said goodbye.
Cheney invited her into the office and asked if she had attended
the meeting. She said yes. Cheney then asked for her opinion of
what was said at the meeting. Gomez, who had been a union
committee leader since about 2018, pointed to the two union but-
tons on her uniform (her red and white committee leader button
and a brown union button) and said, “I think my opinion is very
clear.”

Cheney agreed, but said he wanted to hear it from her. Gomez
replied that she didn’t think she could talk about that with super-
visors. Cheney said it was okay, they could talk about the Union.
So Gomez answered that her husband was a union member and
she wanted to have the benefits the Union offers and the pension
and the insurance.

Cheney said he understood about the benefits but asked why
she would want a third party to come and affect the relationship
between the supervisors and team members. Gomez said that
nothing had to change with the relationship between employees
and the supervisors. Cheney replied that if the Union came in
there would not be any more “favors” for the employees. Gomez
said that it was fine with her; that if things have to change the
Union would make sure everything is done the right way.>

The General Counsel alleges that during the foregoing con-
versation Cheney interrogated Gomez and threatened her with

34 The Board applies an objective standard in evaluating whether such
statements “interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees” in the exercise
of their rights within the meaning of Sec. 8(a)(1) of the Act. See Tesla,
Inc., 370 NLRB No. 101, slip op. at 7 (2021); and Reno Hilton Resorts
Corp., 319 NLRB 1154, 1156 (1995), and cases cited there.

35 The foregoing summary is based on Gomez’s testimony, Tr. 3427,
3433, 3439-3444, 3471, 3475, 3487, 3497-3502, 3517-3518. 1 reject
Red Rock’s argument that Gomez’s testimony should be discredited be-
cause it was not corroborated by either Cheney or Tydingco. First, there
are other good reasons to believe Gomez’s testimony. As discussed
above, just three days earlier, at the September 18 “union avoid-
ance”/“right to manage strategy” meeting, Fortino had strongly encour-
aged all managers and supervisors in Culinary Union-type departments
to start talking to and sharing their opinions with employees about the
Union. Indeed, Fortino specifically suggested during his slide presenta-
tion that they tell employees Station Casinos opposes unions because it
wants to maintain a “family environment” with “a strong supervisor—
team member relationship,” “without the need for someone in between”;
because “unions drive a wedge between you as leaders and your Team
Members”; because “your flexibility goes away when dealing with them
as individuals”; and because “the personal relationships that come from
working together will end.” (GC Exh. 89, pp. 10, 14, 32, and 34). Sec-
ond, neither Cheney, who denied having any such conversation with
Gomez (Tr. 5443-5445), nor Tydingco, who testified she could not recall
or remember such a conversation (Tr. 2912), were particularly impres-
sive or convincing witnesses generally. For example, although another
banquets supervisor, Room Chef Matt Martin, corroborated Gomez’s
testimony that she wore union buttons (Tr. 2948), both Cheney and

loss of benefits in violation of section 8(a)(1) of the Act (GC
Exh. 1(bk), pars. 5(f)(1), (3), 8).

Again, the allegations are well supported. Cheney’s statement
to Gomez that the managers and supervisors would no longer do
any favors for employees if the Union got in was clearly coercive
and unlawful. See Remington Lodging & Hosp., LLC, 363
NLRB No. 112, slip op. at 1 n. 1, 19 (2016) (employer’s cam-
paign literature unlawfully indicated that if the union was voted
in managers would no longer have the flexibility to give employ-
ees extra chances or do “favors” for them), enfd. 847 F.3d 180
(5th Cir. 2017); Mediplex of Wethersfield, 320 NLRB 510, 517—
518 (1995) (facility’s administrator unlawfully told employees
he could no longer grant them “favors” if a union came in, citing
as an example when he gave a newly hired employee bereave-
ment pay as a personal favor); and Steve Aloi Ford, Inc., 179
NLRB 229, 233 (1969) (employer unlawfully told employees
that a union would sever the employee to employer relationship
and there would be “no more favors” for them). See also Stern
Produce Co., 368 NLRB No. 31, slip op. at 26 (2019) (em-
ployer’s labor consultant unlawfully threatened loss of benefits
by saying, “Look at all the stuff he has done for many of you in
here. Many of you were given a second chance by him at one
point or another—you've gone to him and asked for loans, asked
for him to change your schedule . . . now he is going to be in a
situation where he is going to bargain tough against you.”). Alt-
hough Cheney did not specify what he meant by “favors,” ban-
quet supervisors had granted employees favors in the past by al-
lowing them to start their scheduled shifts an hour early or later
for personal reasons,*® and employees would reasonably have in-
terpreted Cheney’s statement as referring to such matters.

The Board decisions cited by Red Rock are distinguishable.
In Tri-Cast, 274 NLRB 377 (1985), the employer distributed a
letter to employees stating “We have been able to work on an
informal and person-to-person basis. If the union comes in this
will change. We will have to run things by the book, with a
stranger, and will not be able to handle personal requests as we

Tydingco denied any recollection of Gomez doing so (Tr. 2912, 5444).
Both also professed poor recollection of the September 18 “union avoid-
ance” meeting (which it is undisputed they both attended) where Fortino
directed them to immediately create MUD lists identifying whether em-
ployees were union supporters. Indeed, Tydingco testified that she
couldn’t even remember if the meeting related to avoiding unions, and
that she has never heard of a MUD list (Tr. 2907-2912). Similarly, alt-
hough Cheney recalled that the meeting was about unions, he testified
that he did not recall Fortino using slides or anything Fortino said except
that the supervisors could now answer employee questions about the Un-
ion (Tr. 5449-5